
Annual Report 2008



Agenda

 

Annual General Meeting
13 May 2009

Interim Report 2009
28 August 2009

Annual Report for 2009
April 2010



 3 Key Figures

 6 Chairman’s Report 

 10 PCB Division

 13 ME Division

 17 EMS Division

 21  Financial Review 

 22 Corporate Governance 

 32 Financial Report 2008

 34 Consolidated Balance Sheet

 35 Consolidated Income Statement

 36 Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

 37 Consolidated Statement of 

  Recognized Income and Expenses

 37 Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

  38 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

 68 Report of the Statutory Auditor 

  on the Consolidated Financial Statements 

  to the Shareholders’ Meeting 

 70 Financial Statements of 

  Cicor Technologies ( Holding)

 72 Notes to the Financial Statements 

  of Cicor Technologies (Holding)

 76 Report of the Statutory Auditor on the 

  Financial Statements to the Shareholders’ Meeting



 2 Cicor Technologies    |     Annual Report 2008    |     



3     |     Annual Report 2008     |     Cicor Technologies

Key Figures

in CHF 1000 unless otherwise specifi ed 2008 restated 2007

Sales 208,439 203,115
Change compared to previous year (%) 2.6 16.6

Operating income  206,943 204,520
Change compared to previous year (%) 1.2 16.7

Operating profi t before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 20,831 24,350
Change compared to previous year (%) – 14.5 52.4

as % of sales 10.0 12.0

Amortization of Goodwill – 28,003 –

Operating profi t/(loss) (EBIT)1) – 17,589 14,847
Change compared to previous year (%) – 218.5 61.8

as % of sales – 8.4 7.3

Net profi t/(loss) – 21,572 11,369
Change compared to previous year (%) – 289.7 57.2

as % of sales – 10.3 5.6

   

  31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Non-current assets 132,337 172,999
Current assets 91,642 96,374
Total assets 223,979 269,373
Equity 129,723 153,978
Equity ratio (%)2) 57.9 57.2

Financial liabilities 42,292 62,045

Cash and cash equivalents 15,745 13,001

Net debt 26,547 49,044
   

Number of employees (end of period) 1,449 890
   

Number of shares issued (end of period) 2,258,210 2,258,210
Average number of shares outstanding 2,217,160 2,168,209
Basic and diluted earnings per share (CHF) – 9.96 5.18
Change compared to previous year (%) – 292.3 52.4

Equity attributable to Cicor shareholders per share (CHF) 56.76 67.91
1) EBIT contains an impairment loss on Goodwill: PCB Division: CHF 8.9 million, EMS Division: CHF 19.1 million.
2) Total equity as % of total assets.
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Goodwill impairment

Based on estimates of future performance and the uncertain and 

diffi cult business environment, the annual impairment test resul-

ted in a goodwill write-off of approximately CHF 28 million.

Of this total, CHF 8.9 million was accounted for by the PCB Divi-

sion. The remaining CHF 19.1 million is attributable to the EMS 

Division. IFRS accounting regulations meant that in 2005 the por-

tion of the purchase-price paid in shares for Electronicparc Group 

had to be booked based on a share price of CHF 80.–, despite the 

fact that this price was actually only CHF 60.– when the binding 

declaration of intent was signed and the purchase price was fi xed. 

In accordance with IFRS rules, the CHF 20.– per share difference 

that resulted from the intervening share price rise led to an incre-

ase in goodwill and equity capital of around CHF 10 million.

Substantial reduction in net debt

The CHF 22.5 million reduction in net debt from CHF 49.0 million 

to CHF 26.5 million gave Cicor Technologies’ a stronger balance 

sheet. It was made possible mainly by the sale of properties and 

the strong operating cash fl ow. The current structure of the 

balance sheet gives us a good platform from which to exploit any 

opportunities that arise when the economy starts to recover.

Net sales rose slightly to CHF 208.4 million (+ 2.6 %) as a result of 

acquisitions. Operating earnings (EBITDA) came to CHF 20.8 mil-

lion (previous year CHF 24.4 million), which represents a very solid 

performance given the diffi cult economic conditions. A large 

goodwill impairment of CHF 28 million left an overall annual loss 

of CHF – 21.6 million (previous year: profi t of CHF 11.4 million).

This impairment was prompted by the limited visibility of the busi-

ness and the great uncertainty attached to any predictions of 

future performance. Even after the impairment charge, however, 

the Group’s equity ratio was 57.9 %, which is slightly higher than 

the previous year fi gure (57.2 %).

Solid operating result (EBITDA)

Despite the economic downturn, Cicor Technologies generated a 

solid EBITDA result. At CHF 20.8 million, this was only 14.5 % lower 

than the previous year’s fi gure, thanks not least to the hard work 

done at all levels within the individual Group companies. More 

intense marketing activities and rigorous cost management also 

contributed to this result. Some of the Group companies in the 

PCB and ME Divisions were once again able to increase sales 

year-on-year thanks to continuing strong demand. In an increasin-

gly challenging market environment, the EMS Division managed to 

hold sales at just about the previous year’s level.

Chairman’s Report 

Cicor Technologies has also been affected by the impacts of the 

economic downturn. The Group performed as expected until the 

middle of 2008, but overall results were impacted as the crisis 

quickly intensifi ed towards the end of the year. The company 

reacted quickly and introduced cost-reduction measures before 

the end of the year.

Antoine Kohler, Chairman of the Board of Directors
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Cicor expands its international presence

Alongside its network of companies in Switzerland, Cicor Techno-

logies is also present with production companies in Germany and 

Romania, and is represented by distribution partners in the USA. 

Its acquisition of 60 % of ESG Group in spring 2008 means that it 

now also has an important foothold in Asia. ESG Holding Pte Ltd 

brings together three production companies: ESG Ecotool Pte Ltd 

in Singapore, PT ESG Panatec in Indonesia and ESG Anam (VN) 

Ltd in Vietnam. Asia is of great strategic importance to Cicor 

Group’s positioning as a globally active high-tech company. As 

well as its key function as a hub for optimized Group-wide 

purchasing of basic materials and components in the Southeast 

Asia region, this new operation also serves as a platform for the 

Group’s further development in line with its defi ned strategy. 

Having established this broad presence in Asia, we now have 

direct access to an extensive network of companies, allowing us 

to offer our customers a substantially extended and even more 

attractive range of services.

Priorities

Cicor Technologies has grown steadily in recent years through tar-

geted acquisitions. In 2007 the focus was on consolidating the 

Group’s activities, but in 2008 the priority was the successful inte-

gration of ESG Group. Within the EMS Division, which accounts for 

more than half of all business volume, effi ciency was greatly 

improved by optimizing logistics processes, thus releasing resour-

ces for long-term organic growth.

As well as maintaining and optimizing opportunities for growth, 

management is concentrating on adjusting the cost base to the 

reduced demand. Cicor Technologies was already anticipating the 

economic downturn in the third quarter of 2008, when it immedi-

ately started to implement a cost-cutting programme. 

Board of Directors

The Shareholders’ Meeting held on 18 June 2008 elected Erwin 

J. Steinmann as a new member of the Board of Directors, which 

then elected him as its Chairman at the subsequent Board mee-

ting. On 25 November 2008, CEO Lucas Grolimund left the com-

pany. The Chairman of the Board of Directors, Erwin Steinmann, 

stepped down from his post at the same time. He was replaced as 

Chairman by Vice Chairman Antoine Kohler.

In 2008 Christian Welter, a longstanding Member and Delegate of 

the Board of Directors, left the Board. He did not make himself 

available for re-election at the Shareholders’ Meeting of 18 June 

2008. Jean-Louis Fatio, former Chairman, was appointed Hono-

rary Chairman of the Board of Directors in recognition of his con-

tribution to further the positive development of the company.
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The Presidium, led by Antoine Kohler and including Jean-Louis 

Fatio and Robert Demuth, is responsible for the operational 

management of the company together with CFO Franz Rutzer and 

the Division Heads. Until a new CEO is appointed, Franz Rutzer is 

acting as the spokesman for Group Management. The company is 

currently in the process of selecting a new CEO.

Financial reporting

Net sales increased by 2.6 % during the period under review to 

CHF 208.4 million (previous year CHF 203.1 million). This rise is 

due mainly to the full-year consolidation of the ME Division, which 

was integrated in April 2007, and to the acquisition of the ESG 

Group in May 2008.

Despite the economic downturn, operating earnings (EBITDA) 

held up well at CHF 20.8 million (previous year: CHF 24.4 million). 

The margin was 10.0 % (previous year: 12.0 %). The negative effects 

on operating result (EBIT) were more evident. A one-time good-

will impairment of CHF 28 million resulted in an EBIT of CHF – 17.6 

million (previous year: EBIT of CHF 14.8 million) or – 8.4 % of 

net sales and left an overall annual loss for the fi nancial year of 

CHF 21.6 million (previous year: profi t of CHF 11.4 million).

Total assets fell CHF 45.4 million from CHF 269.4 million to 

CHF 224.0 million. This reduction was due partly to the sale of the 

factory building in La Chaux-de-Fonds, which was no longer nee-

ded, and to the sale of the factory in Boudry. At the same time, the 

reduction in fi nancial liabilities eased the situation on the liabilities 

side of the balance sheet. The fi nancial report starting on page 34 

provides detailed information about the Group’s position and 

annual results.

Outlook

Cicor Technologies today offers a seamless production and ser-

vice chain for electronic components and systems. The Group 

concentrates on specifi c niches, cutting-edge technology and a 

high service ratio. It continues to follow a clear growth strategy 

based on both organic growth and acquisitions. Potential acquisi-

tion targets must be able to add to the Group’s already high level 

of technological competence as well as contribute to a sustaina-

ble improvement in results. The expansion of the corporate port-

folio should facilitate the further development of our technological 

leadership in selected markets. Future acquisitions should fi ll any 

gaps in our portfolio of technologies and help extend our activities 

to new territories.

Given that the economic environment is still very challenging in 

2009, the Board of Directors, while remaining alert to opportuni-

ties that arise, will treat any potential acquisitions with the requi-

red caution. Cicor Technologies’ broad reach across different 

industries and countries, and its strong position in various niche 

markets, give it an excellent platform from which to profi t from the 

recovery when the economic crisis is over. Experience has shown 

that much of the momentum for economic recoveries comes from 

niche markets. It is likely, therefore, that highly specialized, highly 

innovative businesses will do better than most when the economy 

does start to pick up again.

Owing to the continuing weakness of the semiconductor industry 

and a declining volume of orders from the automotive sector, 

Cicor’s management made further structural adjustments, inclu-

ding the introduction of short-time work and job cuts. The aim of 

these measures is to keep our core workforce, whose skills and 

expertise are so valuable to the company, as intact as possible, 

while still adjusting capacities to reduced market demand.

Thank you

We would like to thank the employees of Cicor Technologies very 

much for their tireless efforts and outstanding performance. Dif-

fi cult operating conditions have placed heavy demands on all the 

Group’s employees. Success this year will depend greatly on their 

persistence and their willingness to grasp whatever opportunities 

arise in a diffi cult environment. We would also like to thank our 

customers and business partners for the good work we have done 

together. Finally, we would like to thank our shareholders for the 

trust they have shown in the company and its future.

 

 

Antoine Kohler

Chairman of the Board of Directors
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early as the second quarter, especially in the semiconductor sec-

tor. There was an especially sharp drop in orders from European 

semiconductor (memory) manufacturers. In the second half of the 

year, Cicorel SA also saw orders begin to fall. From August onwards 

the volume of orders from the very cyclical automotive industry 

also decreased signifi cantly. By the end of the year, all segments 

apart from a few medical products were affected by reduced 

orders, postponements or even cancellations. The performance of 

the watchmaking industry provided a very welcome exception to 

this general trend. It achieved record sales throughout the whole 

year, and the Boudry and Moudon sites were able to shore up the 

Division’s overall sales fi gures. Thanks to its strong focus on the 

watchmaking sector, Moudon was able to post the highest sales 

in its history. The sale of properties by Cicorel SA generated a net 

sales proceeds of about CHF 13 million for the Group. These funds 

were used to strengthen the Group balance sheet. The one-time 

profi t of CHF 1 million generated by the property sales was cred-

ited to operating earnings (EBIT). Despite the prompt introduction 

of cost-cutting measures at Photochemie AG, the PCB Division’s 

overall results failed to meet expectations. The negative EBIT con-

tains an impairment of Goodwill of CHF 8.9 million.

Market environment

The electronics market, including the PCB market, has suffered 

from a noticeable drop in demand since the middle of 2008. This 

is the inevitable consequence of the massive collapse in the PC, 

home entertainment and telecommunications industries in all 

markets worldwide. The deterioration in the general economic sit-

uation has affected not only the European PCB producers, but 

also those in Asia, especially China, Taiwan and Korea. Some of 

these companies saw their capacity utilization fall to below 60 % 

already months before year end, forcing them to mothball and 

close individual production operations.

Thanks to customer relationships built up over years, solid engi-

neering consultancy work, simple and direct communications, 

and competitive terms compared with Far Eastern producers, the 

PCB Division managed to fi ght off the effects of rapidly deteriorat-

ing market conditions for a long time.

Photochemie AG
Photochemie is one of the few companies in the world to manufac-

ture rigid multilayer PCBs using HDI technology (ultrafi ne conduc-

tors, all types of microvia) with a very high number of layers (up 

to 50). This highly specialized company focuses on producing 

very small series quickly (delivery deadlines of a few days). Photo-

chemie AG’s main distinguishing features are its great willingness 

to respond to needs, the fl exibility and technical expertise of its 

employees, and its impressive production error rates, which are 

much lower than industry benchmark levels. 

For the third year in a row, some of Photochemie AG’s key telecom-

munications and semiconductor markets performed badly in 2008. 

The company made great efforts to make up for this trend by 

launching new products and winning new customers with long-term 

development potential. The results of these efforts were not yet sat-

Activities

Within their markets in Europe, the companies of the PCB 
Division (Printed Circuit Boards) are among the leading 
providers at the more complex and demanding end of the 
PCB industry. The three operating units – Photochemie AG, 
Unteraegeri, Cicorel SA, Boudry and Moudon – work in 
clearly defi ned niches. They complement each other in 
terms of their main areas of focus and exploit synergies in 
their production processes, as well as in purchasing and 
in management. They produce rigid, rigid-fl exible and fl ex-
ible multilayer PCBs using HDI (high density interconnects) 
technology. 

PCB Division
The companies’ customers are mainly from the medical tech-

nology, automotive and semi-conductor sectors, telecommuni-

cations, research and development, and watchmaking. Photo-

chemie AG concentrates primarily on making prototypes and 

small series of highly complex PCBs, while Cicorel SA produces 

medium-sized and large series.  

2008 in brief

The fi rst half of the 2008 fi nancial year was very successful. All 

units were on track to meet the Division’s ambitious targets. The 

reorganization and introduction of streamlined processes at Pho-

tochemie had a particularly positive effect. However, demand for 

prototypes and small series began to show signs of weakness as 

André Mueller, Head of PCB Division
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isfactory in 2008. At the same time, Photochemie AG continued to 

streamline the organization of its processes and rigorously adjusted 

its cost structure to falling market demand. The company also con-

tinued to build up its new, highly motivated management team, and 

in recent months it has subjected its key technologies to further 

intensive development while strengthening its position in the high-

tech market. 

Cicorel SA

Cicorel SA is a major supplier of high-quality, high-tech PCBs for 

the medical technology and watchmaking sectors, as well as of 

sensor technology and passive security components (life saving) 

for the automotive industry. The company is also one of the few 

manufacturers in Europe to produce printed circuit boards using 

reel-to-reel technology. Printed circuit boards are usually devel-

oped in close collaboration with the customer. Despite the early 

collapse in demand in the automotive sector, Cicorel SA’s well 

balanced customer structure helped to stay more or less on 

track for its EBIT target in 2008. In Moudon, Cicorel SA gener-

ated record sales thanks to high demand from the watchmaking 

industry. In Boudry, the company continued with its rigorous 

effi ciency-raising measures and its investments in technology. 

During the year under review, Cicorel SA also certifi ed a new 

management system (ISO 9001, ISO 14001 and OSHAS 1800). 

Meanwhile, targeted investment in education and training pro-

grammes helped the company to keep developing its technical 

capabilities. Finally, during the year under review Cicorel SA 

started using a new automatic press unit in a clean-room envi-

ronment. 

Outlook

We believe that markets for the printed circuit board industry will 

continue to be diffi cult all over the world in 2009. Further falls in 

sales should be expected. Short-time work was introduced in 

March 2009 in response to the continuing economic weakness 

and the expected decline in orders from the automotive industry. 

This measure affects about two-thirds of the PCB Division’s work-

force. Hours have been cut by up to 50 %.

In the medium-term, there are opportunities especially for highly 

specialized manufacturers and niche providers. Experience sug-

gests that prototypes and new developments pick up during peri-

ods of recession, and tend to originate in high-tech markets like 

Europe, Japan and America, which puts European companies at 

an advantage. These companies include Photochemie AG and 

Cicorel SA, which specialize in technically sophisticated niches, 

and which have carefully optimized their purchasing operations, 

processes and organizational structures. Management also 

expects to see the fi rst positive effects of the PCB Division’s 2008 

strategic reorientation, which includes a focus on exploiting syn-

ergies within the Division itself and with other Divisions in the 

Group. Furthermore, Photochemie AG is energetically pursuing its 

strategy of concentrating on new markets. 

Key fi gures for the PCB Division

in CHF 1000 2008  restated 2007

Net sales 49,586 55,187

EBITDA 7,333 12,224

In % of net sales 14.8 % 22.2 %

EBIT1) – 5,630 7,835

In % of net sales – 11.4 % 14.2 %

Headcount at year end 219 231

Net sales per region: 

Switzerland 39.9 % 33.5 %

Europe excl. Switzerland 56.5 % 62.7 %

Rest of the world 3.6 % 3.8 %

1) EBIT contains an impairment loss on Goodwill of CHF 8.9 million.
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with a primary focus on Europe and North America. Working 

closely with customers – mostly multinational companies – the 

Division’s specialists continually push the boundaries of what is 

technically possible. The ME Division is, for example, involved in 

groundbreaking projects such as “Galileo”, the new European 

satellite navigation system, which is due to become operational 

in 2011.

2008 in brief

In 2008, the ME Division contributed a full year of results to the 

overall group fi gures for the fi rst time (the relevant units were inte-

grated into Cicor Technologies in April 2007). The ME Division 

posted a double-digit percentage increase in like-for-like sales 

compared with the previous year. All three companies achieved 

record annual sales fi gures. The majority of these sales were to 

the defence, medical technology, telecommunications and, for the 

fi rst time, the printing industry. However, the fi nal result was 

reduced by the strength of the Swiss franc, which had a signifi cant 

negative impact on dollar and euro earnings. From November/

December 2008, the Division also experienced a fall in incoming 

orders. Other than these factors, however, the Division did not 

feel any of the other effects of the general economic downturn 

in 2008. 

Market environment

In general, the markets are currently characterized by great inse-

curity and strong pressure on deadlines and prices. This trend is 

also evident in the ME Division’s market niches. Only the medical 

technology and aerospace sectors continue to show stable devel-

opment. The weakening of the US dollar since the start of 2008 

is severely hampering global activities and making it much more 

diffi cult to penetrate new markets.

There is great potential in the market for readymade hybrid sys-

tems, an area in which RHe Microsystems enjoys a strong market 

position. Joint activities planned by the companies in the Division 

will generate additional sales growth. Geographically, France and 

North America are the priorities. In addition, the tendency to move 

production to low-wage countries continues. It is a trend that 

encompasses technologies likely to play a major role in the future. 

This opens up an opportunity for the ME Division to establish itself 

more fi rmly, even in protected markets.

Activities

The ME Division (Microelectronics) produces hybrid and 
ultra-high frequency technology for microelectronics appli-
cations – a very high-tech area and a very promising seg-
ment of the market. It comprises three companies: Rein-
hardt Microtech AG in Wangs (Switzerland), its German 
subsidiary Reinhardt Microtech GmbH in Ulm (Germany), 
and RHe Microsystems GmbH in Radeberg (Germany).  

ME Division
Reinhardt Microtech AG is one of the world’s largest and most 

innovative manufacturers of thin-fi lm substrates for microelec-

tronics. It has been a market and technology leader in Europe for 

many years. Reinhardt Microtech GmbH in Ulm specializes in 

complex thin-fi lm substrates for aerospace applications. RHe 

Microsystems GmbH makes customer-specifi c microelectronic 

modules and has a state-of-the-art Micro-Assembly Centre (MAC). 

Reinhardt Group and RHe operate in clearly defi ned niches, and 

they complement each other well in terms of their main areas of 

activity. Taken together, their core competences create a technol-

ogy portfolio covering the entire spectrum of substrate manufac-

turing, from thin-layer, thick-layer and polymer technology to fully 

automated micro-assembly of all electronic components, packag-

ing, screening and tests.

The ME Division’s customers are either system manufacturers 

(OEM customers) or their suppliers. They tend to come from the 

medical and measurement technology, defence, aerospace, auto-

motive and telecommunications sectors, or from research and 

development areas. The Division’s geographical reach is global, 

ME Division

Hanspeter Reinhardt, Head of ME Division
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Reinhardt Microtech AG

Reinhardt Microtech AG in Wangs has more than 30 years’ expe-

rience of thin-fi lm substrate technology. It is currently one of the 

world’s leading manufacturers in this area. Thanks to its strategy 

of securing growth by winning business outsourced by multi-

national companies, Reinhardt Microtech has become a well-

known, powerful business with an outstanding position in the 

international markets. In addition to this excellent market position, 

the company’s success is also driven by its highly motivated and 

skilled employees. Reinhardt Microtech AG is known and respec-

ted for its innovative power, great reliability and adherence to 

deadlines. 

Working closely with its customers, Reinhardt Microtech AG devel-

ops customized solutions that help turn innovative ideas into mar-

ket-ready products. In 2008, for example, after several years of 

intensive collaboration with a client to overcome some major 

technical hurdles, the company made a breakthrough in the man-

ufacture of a printer head for professional inkjet printers. Indus-

trial manufacturing with rising unit quantities is a signifi cant 

growth-driver for Reinhardt Microtech AG. Reinhardt Microtech in 

Wangs and Ulm, as centres of competence for thin-fi lm technol-

ogy, work closely with research and development units. Its part-

nerships with universities and institutions, as well as its interna-

tional network of contacts, enable the Reinhardt Microtech Group 

continually to deepen and widen its expertise. 

Reinhardt Microtech GmbH

Reinhardt Microtech GmbH, originally the thin-fi lm manufactur-

ing arm of German aerospace company DASA (now the Euro-

pean Aeronautic Defence and Space Company, EADS), has been 

part of the Reinhardt Group since 1998. The company has many 

years of experience in structuring thin-fi lm ceramic substrates 

for radars and ultrahigh frequency applications. Having started 

with just seven members of staff, the company has grown over 

the last ten years into a highly effective business with 36 employ-

ees. 

In the 2008 fi nancial year Reinhardt Microtech GmbH confi rmed 

its position as the leading supplier of thin-fi lm solutions to the 

European aerospace industry and repeated the successful per-

formance of the previous year. Its main customer was the 

Eurofi ghter consortium, which purchased microwave substrates 

for its radar systems. Further orders from various European 

military aerospace programmes accounted for around two-thirds 

of Reinhardt Microtech GmbH’s sales and ensured a healthy 

underlying capacity utilization in 2008. The company plans to 

move into new premises in mid-2009. In future, Reinhardt Micro-

tech GmbH will operate from three fl oors of a former EADS build-

ing. This will allow it to double the size of its clean-room produc-

tion area, and bring management and production together on the 

same site.

RHe Microsystems GmbH

RHe Microsystems GmbH in Radeberg specializes in making small 

and medium runs of customer-specifi c microsystems, hybrids and 

electronic modules for the telecommunications, aerospace and 

automotive industries. RHe Microsystems GmbH’s core compe-

tence lies in the areas of microelectronics and microsystems tech-

nology. The main focuses are electronic component groups and 

microelectronic modules. The company offers its customers the 

complete manufacturing technology (thick and thin-fi lm technol-

ogy, micro-assembly), as well as screening, various test proce-

dures and component group certifi cation. 
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RHe Microsystems GmbH broke all records in the 2008 fi nancial 

year. The launch of a fully automatic production line (the Micro-

Assembly Centre, or MAC) contributed greatly to the positive per-

formance. The MAC handles the automatic micro-assembly of 

complex microwave modules, optical electronics and micro-

systems. Its portfolio of services ranges from traditional compo-

nent assembly to SMT production, to combinations with other 

microsystem technologies. The new MAC line opens important 

doors for RHe Microsystems GmbH as it establishes itself as a rec-

ognized technology partner throughout Europe. By collaborating 

on national and international aerospace projects (Keramis II, San-

tana III, the GAIA mission) the company is also helping to develop 

groundbreaking technologies for the future. During the year under 

review, the CERN atomic research centre in Geneva presented 

RHe Microsystems GmbH with the 2008 LHCb Industry Award.

Outlook

Order books at all the Division’s companies are looking very 

healthy at the start of 2009 and are at about the same level as 

previous year. However, the positive outlook for the short term 

should not obscure the fact that the world economy as a whole 

is in diffi culty. Dramatic drops in demand have caused uncer-

tainty among the Division’s customers, especially in the automo-

tive industry. They are doing whatever they can to survive in the 

short term, which makes it more diffi cult to predict how the mar-

ket is going to develop over time.

There are more positive signs, however, such as the completion 

of a pioneering project for the printing industry and innovative 

solutions in the thin-fi lm ceramic substrate sector, like “fi lled via 

technology” and “fl ex mcm-d”. The new developments will allow 

the ME Division to build up its technological lead over rival pro-

viders even further. The ability to exploit synergies between the 

Reinhardt Group and RHe Microsystems GmbH also gives the 

Division an extra competitive edge.

Key fi gures for the ME Division

in CHF 1000 (2007: 9 months) 2008 restated 2007

Net sales 35,319 22,819

EBITDA 7,084 5,690

in % of sales 20.1 % 24.9 %

EBIT 4,042 3,516

as % of net sales 11.4 % 15.4 % 

Headcount at end-year 147 138 

Net sales by region: 

Switzerland 8.6 % 17.5 %

Europe excl. Switzerland 75.0 % 67.1 %

Rest of the world 16.4 % 15.4 %
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Activities

The companies in the EMS Division (Electronic Manufactur-
ing Services) offer complete product life cycle manage-
ment for electronics production – from initial product idea 
through to series production. They support their clients 
during every phase of the product lifecycle, from analysis 
of requirements and options, to design, prototyping, 
production, assembly, testing of integrated systems and 
worldwide procurement of components, right through to 
logistics and an after-sales and repair service. The EMS 
Division produces high-quality, technically sophisticated 
plastic components and offers a fast, effi cient and fl exible 
service for the design and manufacture of the necessary 
tools and moulds.  
 

EMS Division
Compared with in-house solutions, clients benefi t from greater 

effi ciency, increased fl exibility and simpler processes. These 

advantages result in faster development cycles, lower overheads, 

cost-effective production sites and attractive purchase condi-

tions thanks to economies of scale. The quality of our services is 

also refl ected in the number of certifi cates we have earned: 

ISO 9001:2000 – Quality Management; ISO 13485:2003 – Medi-

cal Products; TS 16949:2002 – Automotive Products; AQAP 2110 – 

Military Products and ISO 14001:2004 – Eco-Management. 

The EMS Division is a leading outsourcing partner for electronic 

engineering and manufacturing services (E2MS), and injection 

moulding of plastic components, including mould making. The 

Division’s customers are mainly globally active European compa-

nies. They come from the medical sector, mechanical engineering, 

industrial automation, telecommunications, transport and secu-

rity technology, defence and automotive industries, as well as the 

lifestyle sector.

2008 in brief

In 2008, the EMS Division was able to maintain sales at more or 

less the previous year’s level. EBIT decreased signifi cantly based 

on the amortization of Goodwill of CHF 19 million to CHF – 14 mil-

lion. Without this one-time effect, EBIT would have increased to 

CHF 5.4 million (by 12.0 % compared to 2007). During the period 

under review, the ESG Group, which has been consolidated since 

1 May 2008, contributed sales of CHF 11.3 million. The reposition-

ing of Systel SA had a particularly benefi cial effect, as did targeted 

investment in new equipment. Systel SA increased its profi tability 

continuously throughout the period under review. The optimiza-

tion of logistics processes between the individual companies, and 

the development of Systronics SRL in Romania greatly improved 

the effi ciency of processes within the EMS Division. Increased 

demand for development services led to the recruitment of addi-

tional staff within Engineering Services. This welcome develop-

ment refl ects how well positioned the EMS Division is within the 

market. Its decisive competitive advantages include a global mar-

ket presence, continual optimization of processes, ability to deal 

with a large number of complex products from different industries 

across the whole life cycle, and its high degree of vertical service 

integration.

The EMS Division expanded its customer base during the year 

under review, further reducing reliance on major clients. Manage-

ment also made great efforts to intensify cooperation between the 

Division’s companies. Improvements were made particularly in 

the area of logistics processes. For example, materials provision 

in the Swiss companies and the Romanian plant was standardized 

and a direct shipment process was set up. One of the conse-

quences of this is that the Romanian plant can for the fi rst time 

process locally made products on its own – from materials pur-

chasing and production right through to delivery. The progress 

made has also led to a reduction in overlaps and duplications, as 

well as helping to optimize the cost base and reduce the amount 

of capital tied up. Because the resulting cost benefi ts are mostly 

passed onto clients, the Division has improved its competitive 

position. The successful application for AQAP 2110 certifi cation 

(NATO quality assurance requirements) underlines the ability of 

the EMS Division’s management systems to address the needs of 

specifi c industries and customers. The successful integration of 

the ESG Group into the Division also triggered new sales activity.

Market environment

Estimates suggest that the European EMS market was worth 

about CHF 40 billion in 2008. The biggest buyer of EMS services 

is still Germany, which accounts for almost 20 % of the total. 

Europe’s most important EMS providers continued to shift their 

André Bermann, Head of EMS Division
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production capacities to Eastern Europe during the year under 

review. New production centres were also established in Asia. We 

can assume that this trend will continue for some years. However, 

sales will still depend on a close understanding of customer needs 

and an ability to provide high-level expertise. For professional 

Western European companies with cost-effective production sites 

are therefore still plenty of good market opportunities.

Swisstronics Contract Manufacturing AG

With its fi ve SMT (surface mounted technology) assembly lines, 

Swisstronics Contract Manufacturing AG is the EMS Division’s lead 

factory. The Bronschhofen site is the competence centre for highly 

automated assembly of complex PCBs in medium and large series, 

including “box building”. The Swisstronics factory in Jona is the 

competence centre for more complex systems. A lean organization 

and modern equipment, coupled with powerful engineering skills 

and a high level of certifi cation, enable the company to offer solu-

tions with an optimum cost-benefi t ratio. 

Systel SA

Systel SA is the competence centre for high mix/low volume prod-

ucts, for the introduction of new products, and for orders requir-

ing small, medium and specialty series. In 2008, the com-

pany’s management achieved a sustainable turnaround and 

massively increased profi tability.

Systronics SRL

Systronics SRL in Arad, Romania, continued to expand during the 

year under review. As well as labour-intensive THT (through hole 

technology) assembly and manual work, the company now has 

three SMT lines. Thanks to the preparatory work of previous years, 

Systronics SRL operated as a full-scale standalone business in 

2008, acquiring its own orders and serving clients directly. With 

more than 220 employees, the company is the largest single busi-

ness in the EMS Division.

ESG

The ESG Group, which incorporates four operating companies, 

has extensive expertise in technologically demanding areas such 

as SMT and THT, bonding, precision toolmaking and injection 

moulding. The services it offers range from procurement, tool-

making and production right through to assembly and the testing 

of electronic products and modules. In 2008 the ESG Group 

employed more than 550 employees in Singapore, Indonesia and 

Vietnam.

Outlook

Owing to the uncertain economic situation, it is hard to assess the 

EMS Division’s prospects for the 2009 fi nancial year. Demand 

began to fall in mid-2008 and it is currently impossible to predict 

how much and when this demand will stabilize or recover in indi-

vidual customer segments. Consequently, the EMS Division will 

simply have to concentrate on further expanding its customer 

base and preparing itself fl exibly for various scenarios. 

Thanks to the expansion of the manufacturing facility at Sys-

tronics SRL in Romania, the company will have twice the previous 

production area available from the second quarter of 2009. When 

the markets recover, therefore, the EMS Division will be in a posi-

tion to do particularly well from the upturn in business. 

Key fi gures for the EMS Division

in CHF 1000 2008 restated 2007

Net sales 123,565 125,118

EBITDA 8,617 7,706

in % of net sales 7.0 % 6.2 %

EBIT1)  –13,729 4,831

in % of net sales – 11.1 % 3.9 %

Headcount at end-year 1,077 516

Net sales per region: 

Switzerland 74.9 % 75.7 %

Europe excl. Switzerland 19.4 % 19.9 %

Rest of the world 5.7 % 4.4 %

1) EBIT contains an impairment loss on Goodwill of CHF 19.1 million.
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Cicor Technologies reduced its net debt substantially during fi nan-

cial year 2008 and improved its balance sheet by further strength-

ening its capital base and selling property. The acquisition of 60 % 

of ESG Group represented a milestone on the way to becoming a 

globally active group.  

Sales increased 2.6 % from CHF 203.1 million to CHF 208.4 mil-

lion. This rise is due mainly to the fi rst-time full-year consolidation 

of the ME Division and the Acquisition of the ESG Group in May 

2008. Together these factors contributed 9.5 % of the growth in 

sales. Currency infl uences reduced the net sales fi gure by only 

0.8 %. The operating profi t before depreciation and amortization 

(EBITDA) with CHF 20.8 million was 14.5 % below previous years 

result of CHF 24.4 million. As the economical outlook deteriorated 

during late 2008, the Group adjusted the latest midterm plans 

leading to impairment charges in the amount of CHF 28.0 million. 

The operating loss amounted to CHF 17.6 million. The EBIT fi gure 

includes a profi t of CHF 1.0 million made on the sale of properties. 

While operating results for the PCB Division decreased by 58.7 % 

(before impairment charge of CHF 8.9 million), mainly because of 

the continuing fall in demand from the semi-conductor industry, 

the EMS Division improved its EBIT before impairment charge of 

CHF 19.1 million by 12.0 % compared with the previous year. The 

ME Division posted a 15 % improvement in its operating result, 

thanks to the full year consolidation of the division. The EBIT mar-

gin was negatively impacted by the disproportionately low contri-

bution from the print head business and the strong Swiss franc. 

Purchases of companies added CHF 1.9 million to the Group’s 

operating result.    

Currency risks relating to the EUR and to a lesser extent the USD 

were largely offset by opposing operational transactions. How-

ever, this mechanism was thrown out of balance last October by 

the high level of volatility in the fi nancial markets. As a result, there 

was a net loss from currency infl uence of CHF 1.2 million during 

the year under review. Income taxes fell to CHF 0.5 million owing 

to a loss at one company and at individual businesses within the 

Group, which once again benefi ted from reduced tax rates at 

federal, cantonal and municipal level. Including the impairment 

charge of CHF 28 million profi t was down to CHF – 21.6 million. 

This translates into earnings per share of CHF – 9.96 for Cicor’s 

shareholders. During the period under review the average number 

of outstanding shares amounted to 2,217,160 shares.  

The Group invested CHF 8.5 million in machinery and equipment. 

The main focus of this investment was renewing and expanding 

facilities in the PCB and EMS Divisions. The sale of properties gen-

erated proceeds of around CHF 13 million. Most of this was used 

to pay back existing fi nancial liabilities. The acquisition of ESG 

Group, by contrast, was fi nanced from own funds and did not have 

a signifi cant effect on net indebtedness. Overall net debt fell sub-

stantially from CHF 49.0 million to CHF 26.5 million thanks to 

strong operating cash fl ows generated and the sale of properties. 

Cicor Technologies increased its equity ratio to 57.9 % (previous 

year 57.2 %). 

Continuing economic weakness is affecting the businesses within 

Cicor Technologies to different degrees. The Group is adjusting to 

the diffi cult business environment as required, and it has formu-

lated action plans to adapt its cost structures to business vol-

umes.
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Strengthening the balance sheet
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Cicor Technologies is committed to meeting the high standards of Corporate Governance that seek to bal-

ance entrepreneurship, control and transparency whilst ensuring effi cient decision-making processes. 

This report explains how the management and control of the Company are organized and provides back-

ground information on the Group’s executive offi cers and bodies, effective 31 December 2008. The report 

fully complies with the SIX Swiss Exchange Directive on Information Relating to Corporate Governance. In 

addition, the report considers Cicor Technologies’ articles of association as well as the Company’s organ-

isation regulation.

In the following Corporate Governance Report the terms “Cicor” and “Company” shall be used alternatively 

to “Cicor Technologies” and the term “Group” for the company and its subsidiaries. 

Corporate Governance
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1. Group Structure and Shareholders

1.1 Group Structure
Cicor Technologies is registered in Boudry, Switzerland, and is 

operationally organised into the PCB, ME and EMS Divisions. 

Cicor Technologies is the parent company and is listed on the SIX 

Swiss Exchange.

Market capitalization as of 20 March 2009 CHF 42,3 Mio.

Security symbol CICN

Security number 870.219

ISIN CH008702190

Without consideration of the treasury shares, see section 2.1 below.

An overview on the Group’s affi liated companies is shown on page 65 and 72.

1.2 Signifi cant shareholders
As of the year end, the following shareholders exceeding the 3 % 

threshold of the Company’s share capital were known to the Com-

pany. The corresponding holdings were published in the Swiss 

Offi cial Gazette of Commerce (SOGC):

 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007
  Total   Total 
 Shares in %* Shares in %*

Oppenheim Asset Manage-

ment Services S.à.r.l., 

Luxembourg 140,078 6.32 166,000 7.49

Chase Nominees Ltd,  

London, UK n.a. n.a. 148,416 6.69

Caceis Fastnet (Suisse) SA,  

Nyon, Switzerland 128,887 5.81 128,887 5.81

Vontobel Fonds  

Services Ltd, Zurich, 

Switzerland 121,500 5.48 121,500 5.48

Corisol Holding Ltd  

Zug, Switzerland 118,154 5.33 n.a. n.a.

Schroder Investment  

Management Limited, 

London, UK n.a. n.a. 117,844 5.32

Jean-Louis Fatio,  

Bellevue, Switzerland 95,006 4.29 95,006 4.29

Messieurs Pictet & Cie, 

Geneva, Switzerland 92,486 4.17 n.a. n.a.

Alpine Select Ltd,  

Zug, Switzerland 90,000 4.06 90,000 4.06

Guarda Lai AG, 

Zug, Switzerland 77,934 3.52 n.a. n.a.

* Percentages of total outstanding shares of the Company

Cicor Technologies has received no notice of any shareholders’ 

agreement regarding its shares.

As of 31 December 2008, a total of 1,186 (previous year 1,171) 

shareholders with voting right were entered in the share register 

of Cicor Technologies.

1.3 Cross-shareholdings
Cicor Technologies has no cross-shareholdings with any other 

company exceeding a reciprocal 3 % of capital or voting rights.

2. Capital Structure

2.1 Ordinary capital 
As of 31 December, the ordinary share capital of Cicor Technolo-

gies amounted to:

 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007 31. 12. 2006

Registered shares

of CHF 10 par value 2,258,210 2,258,210 2,124,210

Nominal value (in CHF) 22,582,100 22,582,100 21,242,100

Share capital (in CHF) 22,582,100 22,582,100 21,242,100

As of 31 December 2008, the Company held 41,050 (previous 

year 41,050) of its own shares as “Treasury Shares”. For a detailed 

description please refer to section 28 of the Notes to the Consol-

idated Financial Statements.

2.2 Authorized and conditional capital  

Authorized capital
The Board of Directors was authorized by the Annual Share-

holders’ Meeting of 21 June 2007 to increase the share capital 

by CHF 6 million within two years by issuing a maximum of 

600,000 shares, each with a par value of CHF 10. These shares 

have to be fully paid up. The Board of Directors determines the 

issue price of the shares, the eligibility for a dividend and the 

procedures for paying in full. In view of an acquisition or a 

reduction of indebtedness, the shareholders’ pre-emptive sub-

scription rights may be excluded.

Conditional capital
Cicor Technologies has a conditional share capital of maximum 

CHF 500,000 (for the issuance of 50,000 registered shares 

each with a par value of CHF 10). This capital is reserved for 

the exercise of option rights which the management and senior 

staff of the Company may be granted pursuant to an option 

plan to be authorized by the Board of Directors. Pursuant to 

such a plan, the option rights may be exercised at a price set 

by the Board of Directors at or above the share’s par value. The 

pre-emptive subscription rights of the shareholders are 

excluded. As of 31 December 2008, according to a plan 

approved by the Board of Directors on 3 January 2008, 22,500 

options were outstanding.

2.3 Changes in capital
The changes in capital for the last two years are described on 

pages 37 and 52 of this report. 

2.4 Shares and participation certifi cates
The share capital of Cicor Technologies consists of 2,258,210 

registered shares (previous year 2,258,210) with a par value 

of CHF 10 each. The amount of outstanding shares remained 

unchanged compared to the previous reporting period. 
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The shares are fully paid up. With the exception of the shares 

held by the Company itself, each ordinary share is entitled to 

the same share in the Company’s assets and profi ts and bears 

one voting right at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting provided 

the shareholder is registered with voting rights in the Compa-

ny’s share register.

Provided that a shareholder does not request the printing and 

delivery of share certifi cates for its investment, the shares of 

the Company are held in collective deposit at SIX SAG AG 

rather than issued as physical certifi cates. At the request of 

some shareholders, the Company has issued a number of phys-

ical certifi cates. 

In accordance with the Articles of Incorporation of the Com-

pany, registered shares may be converted to bearer shares and 

bearer shares into registered shares at any time upon resolu-

tion of the Shareholders’ Meeting. As of 31 December 2008, 

the Company has not issued participation certifi cates.

2.5 Profi t sharing certifi cates
As of 31 December 2008, the Company has not issued profi t 

sharing certifi cates.

2.6 Limitations on transferability and nominee registrations
All shares of Cicor Technologies are registered shares and 

freely transferable without any limitation. Entry in the Compa-

ny’s share register with voting rights requires evidence that the 

shares have been transferred for ownership or benefi cial inter-

est. There are no registration provisions for nominees. The 

share register is kept by the SIX SAG AG. 

2.7 Convertible bonds and warrants/options
The Company has not issued any convertible bonds or similar 

equity-linked debt instruments as of 31 December 2008. Accord-

ing to the Management Participation Program, approved by the 

Board of Directors and executed for the fi rst time in 2008, 

22,500 options, granted to the Group Management and other 

key employees in the reporting period, were outstanding. These 

options can be exercised after vesting until the end of the 

option term which is seven years from the time of the option 

grant. The vesting periods start on the date the option is 

granted. The vesting periods end for 33.33 % of the options one 

year, for the further 33.33 % two years, and for the last 33.33 % 

three years after the option grant date. The strike price is 

based on the average of the Cicor Technologies share closing 

price on the SIX Swiss Exchange during the past 60 trading 

days preceding the grant date. The strike price can be adjusted 

(rounded) to within a range of +/–3 % of the said average share 

price.  

3. Board of Directors

3.1 Members of the Board of Directors
On 31 December 2008 the Board of Directors (Board) of the Company consisted of the following persons:

Name, Position, First Current term  
Nationality election ends Other activities

Antoine Kohler*  1995 2009

Chairman 

non-executive, Swiss

   

Jean-Louis Fatio* 2004 2009

Honory Chairman 

non-executive, Swiss

Robert Demuth* 2007 2009

non-executive, Swiss 

Hanspeter Reinhardt 2007 2009

executive, Swiss

 

Urs Wehinger  2004 2009

Secretary

non-executive, Swiss 

* Members of the Presidium; 

 Robert Demuth was CEO from June 2005 until April 2007.

Member of the Board of Cos Computer Systems AG, 

Genolier Swiss Medical Network SA

Mitsubishi UFJ Wealth Management Bank (Switzerland) SA

Sixt AG, Sixt rent-a-car AG and Sixt Leasing (Switzerland) AG

none

none

Member of the Board of Optics Balzers AG, Liechtenstein

Member of the Committee of BST Bio Sensor Technology GmbH, 

Germany

Member of the Board of Bank Coop AG

Member of the Group Committee of Basler Kantonalbank
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Antoine Kohler, Chairman
Born 1956, earned a law degree from the University of Geneva, 

postgraduate studies at the Graduate Institute of International 

Studies, Geneva. Antoine Kohler has been practising law as a qual-

ifi ed attorney in Geneva since 1983. He is a senior partner with the 

law fi rm Perréard, de Boccard, Kohler, Ador & Associés in Geneva 

and Zurich which advises the Group in legal matters. 

Jean-Louis Fatio, Honorary Chairman
Born 1934, earned a Master degree in Applied Mathematics from 

UCLA and the MIT, PhD in Computer Sciences from the Federal 

Institute of Technology in Lausanne. Jean-Louis Fatio began his 

career as an engineer in Europe and the USA. He became involved 

in numerous private equity and venture capital companies as an 

adviser or investor. He has also acted as member of the Board of 

several companies in the areas of banking, venture capital and 

pharma/biotech such as Novimmune SA and Spinner Global 

Asset Management Ltd, New York. Jean-Louis Fatio still has invest-

ments in technology-related industries and acquired a majority 

stake in NM Holding SA and NMS SA in 1993. 

Robert Demuth
Born 1947, graduated in mechanical engineering from the Institute 

for Technology and Architecture in Luzern and earned a Master in 

Business Administration (MBA) from the University of St. Gallen. 

He started his career at the Rieter Group and subsequently headed 

the research and development division of the worldwide mechan-

ical engineering company Bühler AG in Uzwil. Before becoming 

head of management at Cicor Technologies, he was CEO and del-

egate director of the Board of Dyconex AG from 1998 to 2005, a 

Swiss manufacturer of circuit boards, multi-chip modules and 

service provider in the fi eld of electronic interconnect technology. 

From June 2005 to April 2007, Robert Demuth acted as CEO of the 

Company.

Hanspeter Reinhardt
Born 1948, graduated from Fachhochschule Chur as an electrical 

engineer. He started his career as operation engineer at Zellweger 

AG in Sargans, Switzerland. Thereafter, he joined Balzers AG in 

Balzers, Liechtenstein, where he held various management func-

tions. As project manager he spent quite some time in Russia, 

China and in different countries of the Eastern bloc. In 1984, he 

founded his own hightech company, Reinhardt Microtech AG. In 

his function as CEO and Chairman, he rapidly built up the com-

pany. Today, the team includes over 85 employees. As of April 

2007, Reinhardt Microtech AG became part of Cicor Technologies 

and Hanspeter Reinhardt a member of the Group Management 

and the Board of Directors.

Urs Wehinger
Born 1945, earned a law degree from the University of Zurich, 

postgraduate studies in Paris und London (City of London 

Polytechnic). Urs Wehinger served to the Union Bank of Switzer-

land and Swiss Volksbank from 1970 to 1980. He is senior partner 

with the law fi rm Arnold Wehinger Kaelin & Ferrari in Zurich and 

Zug, which advises the Group in legal matters.

The General Meeting of 18 June 2008 elected Erwin J. Steinmann 

as a new member of the Board of Directors, and the subsequent 

Board meeting elected him as Chairman of the Board. Erwin 

J. Steinmann handed in his resignation on 25 November 2008.

Christian Welter (Member), former Delegate of the Board, who 

contributed substantially to the growth of the company since 

2004, was not anymore at the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting’s 

disposal for re-election. Jean-Louis Fatio was appointed Honorary 

Chairman of the Board of Directors in recognition of his merits to 

the positive development of the Company.  
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3.2 Other activities and vested interests
Information about other activities of the Board members in addi-

tion to their functions for Cicor Technologies is listed in the over-

view table on page 25 above. Unless otherwise described in the 

above curriculum vitae, the non-executive members of the Board 

do not have any material business connections with the Group.

3.3 Cross involvement
There are no interdependent memberships in the Board of Cicor 

Technologies and other companies.

3.4 Elections and terms of offi ce
According to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, the Board 

consists of one or more members. The members of the Board are 

elected by the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting for a term of offi ce 

of one year. There are no limits as to how many times a member 

can be reelected, or any upper age limit for election.

According to the Company’s Articles of Incorporation, the major-

ity of the members must be Swiss citizens and domiciled in Swit-

zerland.

3.5 Internal organisational structure
The Board constitutes itself at its fi rst meeting after the Annual 

Shareholders’ Meeting. It appoints its Chairman, if need be, its 

Vice-Chairman, the Presidium and the Board committees as well 

as a Secretary, who does not need to be a member of the Board. 

The Board meets as often as the Company’s affairs require or 

upon the written request of one of its members. The Board 

approves resolutions and holds elections with the majority of its 

votes.

The Board is the highest executive instance within the Group man-

agement structure and takes responsibility of the overall govern-

ance of the Company and the Group. It oversees the management 

of their affairs. The basic principles regarding the defi nition of the 

areas of responsibility between the Board and the Group Manage-

ment are described in section 3.6 below.

The Chairman of the Board of Directors
The Chairman heads the meetings of the Board, the Presidium and 

the Shareholders’ Meetings. He supervises the implementation of 

the resolutions passed by the Board and coordinates the work of 

the Committees ensuring that the Board as a whole operates as 

an integrated, cohesive body. The Chairman of the Board of Direc-

tors is Antoine Kohler.

The Presidium 
The Presidium consists of the Chairman of the Board and up to 

two additional designated Board members. The following mem-

bers have been appointed to the Presidium: Antoine Kohler, 

Chairman of the Board; Jean-Louis Fatio, Honorary Chairman and 

Robert Demuth.

It is the fi rst priority of the Presidium to supervise the duties and 

functions undertaken by the CEO and CFO as well as the other 

members of the Group Management and to act as an intermediary 

between the Board and the offi cers entrusted with the manage-

ment of the Group. The Presidium takes decisions on fi nancial and 

other matters delegated by the Board in accordance with the Reg-

ulations regarding the Delegation of Management. In particular, 

the Presidium is responsible for: 

 Preparing resolutions of the Board and for overseeing their 

implementation, where this function is not carried out directly 

by the CEO or by a Committee of the Board;

 Planning for the replacement of outgoing members and evalu-

ating candidates for positions on the Board;

 Proposing to the Board for approval the members of the Com-

mittees of the Board, the members of the Presidium, the CEO, 

the CFO, the members of the Group Management and the Divi-

sion’s General Managers;

 Appointing members to the Board of subsidiaries and appoint-

ing their Unit Managers who have been proposed by the CEO;

 Determining the compensation packages (including pension 

benefi ts and incentives such as stock options etc.) of the sen-

ior management personnel of the Company, where this task is 

not assigned to the Remuneration Committee;

 Discharging other duties in the area of Corporate Governance, 

where such duties are not assigned to a Committee or Com-

mittee of the Board under the revised Regulations;

 Supervising and performing the ad-hoc and regular informa-

tion requirements, especially under the SIX Swiss Exchange-

regulations and guidelines;

 Approving expenditures, investments or divestments of prop-

erty, plant and equipment whose total value exceeds CHF 0.5 

million. In case of investments and divestments whose total 

value exceeds CHF 2 million, the Presidium submits a report 

and a proposal to the full Board.  

In addition, the Presidium assists the Board on matters relating to 

fi nance, investment and capital assets and in evaluating risks per-

taining thereto. It prepares proposals on such issues for a vote by 

the Board. Specifi cally, the Presidium reviews:

 Financial planning, budgets and budget execution;

 Investments of liquid assets and fi nancial investments, includ-

ing investments of assets by the Company’s post retirement 

benefi t plans;

 Longer-term business plans and strategy as well as their com-

munication in the Company’s annual reports;

 Reporting of non-operational results.

The Presidium also makes decisions and takes preliminary action 

on behalf of the full Board in urgent cases.
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Audit Committee
The Audit Committee consists of three Board members of which 

two members have not been nominated in the Presidium. The fol-

lowing members have been appointed: Urs Wehinger, Chairman, 

Antoine Kohler and Hanspeter Reinhardt.

The Audit Committee assists the Board in supervising the manage-

ment of the Company, particularly with respect to fi nancial and 

legal matters as well as in relations to compliance with internal 

business policies and codes of practice.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee consists of three Board members 

of which two members have not been nominated in the Presidium. 

The following members have been appointed: Jean-Louis Fatio, 

Chairman, Hanspeter Reinhardt and Urs Wehinger.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for approving, upon 

proposal by the Presidium, the Group’s remuneration policy, the 

compensation packages of the members of Group Management 

and further key people, profi t-sharing schemes as well as pension 

fund benefi ts and other post-employment benefi t plans.

Operating methods of the Board, the Presidium 
and the Committees
Between 1 January and 31 December 2008, the Board has met for 

ten ordinary Board meetings. The CEO or the speaker of Group 

Management and the CFO of the Group attended all meetings. On 

a selective basis, external advisers also participated at some 

meetings dealing with specifi c subjects. The meetings of the 

Board lasted on average one day. 

For each Board meeting, the members were provided with ade-

quate material in advance to prepare for the items on the agenda. 

At each meeting, the CEO or the CFO presented the results of 

Cicor Technologies and its subsidiaries in detail. The members dis-

cussed the results comprehensively and, if required, instructed 

the CEO or the CFO to take necessary actions or to draw up plans 

for measures. 

The Presidium held seven meetings in 2008, in addition to many 

phone conversations. The meetings lasted on average half a day. 

The Audit Committee held three meetings in 2008. The CFO of the 

Group participated in each conversation. In addition, all three 

meetings were attended by the Head of External Audit. The meet-

ings lasted on average half a day.

The Renumeration Committee held two meetings in 2008, both 

lasted half a day.

3.6 Defi nition of areas of responsibility
The duties and responsibilities of the Board, the Presidium and the 

Group Management are defi ned as follows: 

The Board holds the ultimate decision-making authority and 

decides on all matters which have not been reserved for or con-

ferred upon another governing body of the Company by law, the 

Articles of Incorporation or Regulations regarding the Delegation 

of Management of the Company.

The Board has in particular the following non-transferable and 

indefeasible duties:

 Overall governance of the Company and the Group including 

formulating medium and long-term strategies, planning priori-

ties and laying down guidelines for corporate policy;

 Approving the annual group budgets and medium to long-term 

group business and investment plans;

 Establishing the basic organisational structure;

 Defi ning the guidelines for accounting, fi nancial controlling 

and fi nancial planning systems;

 Taking decisions on transactions of substantial strategic sig-

nifi cance;

 Appointing and removing those responsible for managing the 

Company’s affairs and acting as its agent, in particular the 

members of the Presidium, the CEO, the CFO, the Division’s 

General Managers and other members of the Group Manage-

ment;

 Appointing and removing the members of the Committees of 

the Board;

 Overall supervision of the bodies and offi cers responsible for 

the management of the Company;

 Drawing up the annual and interim reports, preparing the 

Annual Shareholders’ Meeting;

 Notifying the court in the event of over-indebtedness;

 Proposing and implementing capital increases and amending 

the Articles of Incorporation;

 Checking the professional qualifi cations of the external group 

auditors.

The Board conferred management functions in the manner pro-

vided by the revised organisation regulation to the CEO, the Group 

Management or the Division’s General Managers. Thereby it fol-

lows the Company’s general principle expressing that all executive 

bodies and offi cers delegate their duties and powers to the hierar-

chically lowest possible body or offi cer that possess the knowl-

edge and expertise necessary to make appropriate decisions. The 

transferable supervising and representative functions of the Board 

are delegated to the Presidium.

The Operational Group Management is responsible for the day-to-

day operational business of the Group. Its main duties consist of:

 Conducting day-to-day business of the Group in compliance 

with the applicable laws, Articles of Incorporation, regulations 

and instructions;

 Implementing the Group strategy;

 Preparing and executing the resolutions of the Board and 

ensuring their Group-wide implementation;

 Reporting all matters to be dealt with by the Board, the Presid-

ium and the Committees; 

 Accounting and analysis of the monthly results and semi-

annual and annual accounts on Group and divisional levels as 

well as implementing the required internal control measures.
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3.7 Information and control instruments towards 
the Group Management
The Board receives from the Presidium annotated key data of all 

operative Group companies within the framework of a Group-wide 

institutionalised reporting system. The format of the data is 

defi ned within an MIS (Management Information System).

Each month, the Management Information System summarizes in 

a simplifi ed format the most important key fi gures of all opera-

tional units; every quarter, it presents comprehensive fi nancial 

statements in line with the requirements set for the year end. 

These reports are available to the Group Management and the 

Presidium in full length. A condensed format is also sent to the 

members of the Board of Directors.

The Board analyses such data in detail in its meetings. At each 

meeting of the Board and the Presidium, the CEO, CFO and Divi-

sion’s General Managers inform on the operational day-to-day 

business and all important business events. The members of the 

Board, the Presidium and the Board Committees are entitled to 

request information on all company-related issues.

See section 3.5 for additional information on the work methods of 

the Board, the Presidium and the Committees.

In addition to the above described Management Information Sys-

tem, a Risk Management System was introduced in 2008. More 

detailed information is given on page 64 of this report.

4. Group Management

4.1 Members of the Group Management
The members of the Group Management are appointed by the 

Board upon proposal by the Presidium. The Group Management 

consists of the CEO, the CFO and the Division Managers. As of 

31 December 2008, the Group Management consisted of the fol-

lowing persons:

Name/Nationality Position Appointment 

Franz Rutzer CFO October 2006

Swiss

André Mueller Head of PCB Division August 2007

Swiss

Hanspeter Reinhardt Head of ME Division April 2007

Swiss

André Bermann Head of EMS Division January 2007

Swiss

Franz Rutzer 
Born 1960, graduated from the University of St. Gallen as an econ-

omist lic. oec. HSG and is a graduated Controller SIB from Control-

lerakademie SIB, Zurich. Franz Rutzer started his professional 

career in software support and took over various functions in 

fi nance and controlling for several internationally active industrial 

companies. In 1998 Franz Rutzer was CFO and member of the 

management of Tecan Gruppe and later participated in the devel-

opment of a regional organisation in Europe. From 2004 to 

September 2006 he was deputy CFO and Group Controller of 

Saia-Burgess.

André Mueller
Born 1953, graduated from the ETH Zurich (Swiss Federal Institute 

of Technology) and holds an Master of Science in Mechanical 

Engineering. Initially, he worked for a dozen years in the aerospace 

industry in Europe and the USA. Since 1993, he has been in 

charge of several semiconductor companies acting in worldwide 

markets before joining Cicorel SA as General Manager in March 

2006. In August 2007, he was appointed Head of Cicor Technolo-

gies’ PCB Division. 

Hanspeter Reinhardt
See curriculum vitae on page 26.

André Bermann
Born 1971, earned a Master of Science (ETH) in Management, 

Technology and Economics and a SKU diploma in Advanced Man-

agement. From 1998 to 2003 he took responsibility of various 

functions within Siemens Switzerland. 2003 he joined Swisstron-

ics Contract Manufacturing AG (former Siemens Switzerland’s 

manufacturing unit). 2004 he was appointed Unit Manager of 

Swisstronics bearing full profi t responsibility. André Bermann 

has managed the EMS Division since the beginning of January 

2007.

As of 25 November 2008, the Board and the CEO, Lucas 

A. Grolimund, have come to a mutual understanding to terminate 

the employment as a result of disagreements regarding the stra-

tegic development of the Group. Until a new CEO will assume 

offi ce, the Presidium, under the management of Antoine Kohler 

and the members Jean-Louis Fatio and Robert Demuth, will 

together with the CFO Franz Rutzer who was appointed speaker of 

Group Management and the three Division Managers, guarantee 

the continuity in operations.

4.2 Other activities and vested interests
No member of the Group Management held a position outside the 

Cicor Technologies Group which could be of signifi cance to the 

Company. For activities of Hanspeter Reinhardt see page 25.

4.3 Management contracts
Cicor Technologies delegated no management duties to legal enti-

ties or natural persons outside the Company in 2008.
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5. Compensation, Shareholdings 
and Loans

5.1 Content and method of determining the compensation 
and the share-ownership programmes
The Board determines the remuneration of its members at the fi rst 

meeting after the Annual Shareholders’ Meeting of shareholders. 

In addition, the Presidium proposes to the Board for approval the 

special fees payable to members of the Board who carry out spe-

cifi c functions or who render services beyond the normal scope of 

their offi ce. The members of the Presidium did not receive any 

additional compensation for their activities in the relevant body.

On proposal of the Presidium and upon approval by the Remuner-

ation Committee, the members of the Group Management received 

a fi xed annual salary as well as a performance-related bonus. The 

bonus of the CEO and the other members of the Group Manage-

ment are based on net result, growth of net sales and EBIT fi gures 

as well as personal objectives which are determined in an annual 

discussion between each member of Group Management and the 

Remuneration Committee. The maximum bonus is limited to 60 % 

of the fi xed annual salary for all members of the Group Manage-

ment except for the CEO. 

The annual salary conforms to the level for comparable positions 

in similar Swiss industrial companies of an equivalent size.

In the reporting period under the Management Participation Pro-

gram 2008, approved by the Board of Directors, 22 500 options 

were granted to the Group Management and other key employees 

for the fi rst time. Further information concerning term, convertibil-

ity, preferential price are presented above under point 2.7 of this 

report. More detailed information is given on page 66.

In the year under review, there were no further compensation 

components such as bonus shares, exceptional fringe benefi ts, 

etc. Regarding compensation payments for acting members of 

governing bodies including persons resigned during the reporting 

period, please note the information given in the Notes to the Finan-

cial Statements on page 74 of this report.

6. Shareholders’ Rights

Each registered share of the Company entitles the owner/benefi -

ciary of the share to one vote at the Shareholders’ Meeting, pro-

vided that he is registered in the share register of the Company as 

a shareholder with voting rights. 

6.1 Voting rights and representation restrictions
There are no statutory restrictions on voting rights. All sharehold-

ers, provided that they are registered in the share register of the 

Company as shareholders with voting rights, have the same right 

to attend the Shareholders’ Meeting or to be represented by a 

legal representative or, with written authorization, by another 

person, by governing bodies of the Company, by the independent 

voting proxy, or by a depository proxy. 

6.2 Statutory quorum
The Shareholders’ Meeting passes its resolutions with the abso-

lute majority of the votes allocated to the shares represented. If a 

second ballot is required, the relative majority of the votes allo-

cated to the shares represented is suffi cient for the adoption of an 

agenda item. In the event of equality of votes, the Chairman has 

the casting vote. According to the Articles of Incorporation, a res-

olution of the Shareholders’ Meeting passed by at least two thirds 

of the votes represented and the absolute majority of the par value 

of shares represented are required for:

 Changing the purpose of the Company;

 Introducing shares with privileged voting rights;

 Limiting the transferability of registered shares;

 Increasing authorized or conditional share capital;

 Increasing capital out of equity, against contributions in kind 

or for the purpose of acquisition of assets and granting special 

benefi ts;

 Limiting or withdrawing pre-emptive rights;

 Changing the domicile of the Company;

 Dissolving the Company without liquidation.

 

6.3 Convocation of the Shareholders’ Meeting
Shareholders’ Meetings are convened by the Board and, if required, 

by the Auditors at the latest twenty days before the date of the 

meeting. The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting is held at the latest 

within six months of the close of the fi nancial year. 

Shareholders registered in the share register with voting rights 

representing an aggregate of at least 10 % of the share capital may 

request in writing, setting forth the items to be discussed and the 

proposals to be decided, that an extraordinary Shareholders’ 

Meetings is convened.

The Company publishes the invitation to the Shareholders’ Meet-

ing in the “SOGC”, as well as the “Neue Zürcher Zeitung”, the 

“Finanz und Wirtschaft” and in “L’Agéfi ”. Simultaneously, the writ-

ten invitation is sent to the shareholders or benefi ciaries who are 

entered in the share register of the Company.

The invitation contains details of the day, time and place of the 

meeting as well as the agenda and the proposals of the Board and 

the shareholders who have requested the Shareholders’ Meeting 

or an item to be included on the agenda.

6.4 Agenda
Shareholders registered in the share register with voting rights, 

whose combined shareholdings represent an aggregate nominal 

value of at least CHF 1 million may request that an item be included 

in the agenda of a Shareholders’ Meeting. Such a request shall be 

made in writing at least sixty days before the meeting and shall 

specify the items and motions to be included in the agenda.
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6.5 Entry into the share register
The SIX SAG AG keeps the company’s share register which con-

tains the names and addresses of shareholders and the number of 

shares they have registered. After dispatch of the invitation to the 

Shareholders’ Meeting, no entries can be made in the share reg-

ister until the day after the Shareholders’ Meeting has taken 

place. 

 

7. Changes of Control and Measures

7.1 Duty to make an offer
The Company does not have an opting-up or opting-out clause in 

its Articles of Incorporation, meaning that the mandatory bid obli-

gation of the Swiss Stock Exchange Act is triggered if a share-

holder or a group of shareholders acting in concert acquire more 

than one third of the outstanding shares of the Company.

7.2 Clauses on changes of control
As of 31 December 2008, there are no specifi c clauses included 

in agreements and schemes benefi ting members of the Board or 

Group Management in the event of a change of control situation.

8. Auditors

8.1 Duration of the mandate and term of offi ce of the lead 
auditor
The Annual Shareholders’ Meeting elects the auditors for a term 

of one year. On 18 June 2008, the General Meeting mandated 

KPMG, Cicor Technologies’ Group auditor since 2007, for an addi-

tional year. KPMG or a subsidiary of the KPMG Group audits the 

consolidated and statutory fi nancial statements. The auditor in 

charge of the current mandate is Hanspeter Stocker.

8.2 Auditing fees
KPMG charged during the year under review a total of TCHF 340  

(previous year TCHF 336) for their services in connection with 

auditing the consolidated and statutory fi nancial statements.

8.3 Additional fees
KPMG AG additionally received fees of TCHF 61 (previous year: 

TCHF 0) for other services to the Company. 

8.4 Supervisory and control instruments pertaining 
to the audit
The Audit Committee supervises and controls the external audi-

tors. It determines the targets of the audit and assesses the work 

of the external auditors and their fees. In 2008, the Audit Commit-

tee and the external auditors met once to plan the auditing of the 

fi nancial statements of the Group and its subsidiaries. In a second 

meeting, these statements, as well as the corresponding “Man-

agement Letter” formulated by external auditors, were reviewed 

and discussed in detail with the Audit Committee. In total, the 

Audit Committee had three meetings in the presence of the exter-

nal auditors.

9. Information Policy

For the benefi t of its shareholders and the public interested in the 

business activities of the Company, Cicor Technologies pursues 

an open and transparent information policy. In terms of periodical 

as well as ad hoc reporting, the Company aims in particular to 

guarantee equal treatment with respect to time as well as to the 

information content. The Company has a clear policy to prevent 

insider dealings. The corresponding guidelines contain provisions 

regarding the handling of confi dential information to which all per-

sons concerned within and outside of the Company are subject, 

as well as clear instructions regarding time and form of the respec-

tive publication.  

From internal availability to approval of the semi-annual or annual 

results by the Board, the Company and its management refrain 

from communicating to the investing public any qualitative and 

quantitative statements and information which might give an indi-

cation as to the expected sales or results. Immediately after the 

Board meeting where the semi-annual and annual reports are 

approved, the general public is informed in summary about the 

course of business by means of an ad hoc announcement.

Furthermore, the Company informs its shareholders, the media, 

fi nancial analysts and other interested parties by using the follow-

ing publications and channels:

 Annual and Interim Reports in accordance with the Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS);

 Presentation of annual results;

 Shareholders’ letter;

 Shareholders’ Meeting;

 Press releases as well as publications of share price-sensitive 

facts (ad hoc publicity)

The 2009 General Shareholders’ Meeting will be held on May 13, 

2009. The Interim Report is planned to be published in September 

2009.

For additional information about Cicor Technologies and its 

subsidiaries, please visit the Group’s website (www.cicor.com, 

www.cicor.ch). Inter alia, previous annual reports and press 

releases can be found on the website. 

Responsible for investor relations is Antoine Kohler, Chairman of 

the Board, phone +41 43 811 44 05, investor@cicor.ch.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

  in CHF 1000 Notes 31. 12. 2008 restated 31. 12. 2007

Assets   
Property, plant and equipment (3) 45,504 59,290

Intangible assets (4) 86,787 113,482

Deferred tax assets  46 –

Non-current receivables  – 227

Non-current assets  132,337 172,999
Inventories (5) 40,288 44,026

Trade accounts receivable (6) 28,820 32,597

Income tax receivable  507 115

Other accounts receivable (6) 3,712 5,413

Other current assets  85 188

Prepaid expenses and accruals  2,485 1,034

Cash and cash equivalents (7) 15,745 13,001

Current assets  91,642 96,374
Total Assets  223,979 269,373
   

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity   
Ordinary share capital (12) 22,582 22,582

Share premium  110,940 110,940

Treasury shares  – 3,276 – 3,276

Retained earnings  – 887 22,771

Translation adjustments  – 1,183 328

Equity attributable to Cicor shareholders  128,176 153,345
Minority interest  1,547 633

Total equity  129,723 153,978
Long-term provisions (8) 1,647 1,711

Deferred tax liabilities (9) 5,054 5,471

Long-term fi nancial liabilities (10) 15,844 35,630

Other long-term liabilities  5,986 8,676

Non-current liabilities  28,531 51,488
Short-term fi nancial liabilities (10) 26,448 26,415

Trade accounts payable  18,299 22,580

Other current liabilities and accruals (11) 18,990 13,009

Short-term provisions (8) 1,890 1,610

Income tax payable  98 293

Current liabilities  65,725 63,907
Total liabilities  94,256 115,395
Total equity and liabilities  223,979 269,373
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Consolidated Income Statement

  in CHF 1000 Notes 2008 restated 2007

Sales (15) 208,439 203,115

Changes in work in progress   – 2,707 290

Other operating income   1,211 1,115

Operating income   206,943 204,520
Material costs  – 97,219 – 99,241

Personnel costs (18) – 65,583 – 60,714

Other operating expenses  – 23,310 – 20,215

Operating profi t before depreciation and amortization (EBITDA)  20,831 24,350
Depreciation (3, 4) – 10,417 – 9,503

Amortization of Goodwill (4) – 28,003 –

Operating profi t/(loss) (EBIT)   – 17,589 14,847
Financial income (17) 4,477 3,005

Financial expenses (17) – 7,980 – 5,574

Profi t/(Loss) before tax   – 21,092 12,278
Income tax (9) – 480 – 909

Net profi t/(loss)   – 21,572 11,369
Net profi t/(loss) attributable to Cicor shareholders   – 22,090 11,222

Net profi t attributable to minority interests   518 147

Basic and diluted earnings per share (CHF) (20) – 9.96 5.18

Restatement: see note 2.4
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

in CHF 1000   Notes 2008 restated 2007

Profi t/(loss) before Tax  – 21,092 12,278
Depreciation/Amortization (3, 4) 38,420 9,503

Other non-cash income and expenses (19) – 1,720 – 1,191

Interest income (17) – 735 – 822

Interest expenses (17) 2,995 3,317

(Gain)/loss on disposal of assets  – 1,003 24

Increase/(decrease) in provisions  223 – 587

Increase/(decrease) in other non-current liabilities  – 3,179 – 613

Unrealized currency (gains)/losses  371 – 100

Subtotal before working capital changes  14,280 21,809
Decrease/(increase) in inventories  4,636 – 2,612

Decrease/(increase) in trade accounts receivable  4,631 – 101

Decrease/(increase) in other current assets  1,898 460

(Decrease)/increase in trade accounts payable  – 4,757 – 273

(Decrease)/increase in other current liabilities  4,162 – 1,770

(Increase)/decrease in working capital  10,570 – 4,296
Income tax paid  – 1,778 – 1,797

Interest paid  – 2,940 – 3,250

Interest received  640 822

Net cash from/(used in) operating activities  20,772 13,288
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (3) – 5,723 – 4,990

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  13,702 94

Purchase of intangible assets  – 2,163 – 38

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired (23) – 518 – 20,193

(Increase)/decrease in other non-current assets  294 24

Net cash from/(used in) investing activities  5,592 – 25,103
Proceeds from issue of share capital/from sale of treasury shares  – 7,056

Dividend to Minority  – 159 –

Payment of fi nance lease liabilities  – 3,699 – 2,288

Proceeds from borrowings  2,211 18,360

Repayment of borrowings  – 22,093 – 20,815

Costs related to capital increases  – – 457

Net cash from/(used in) fi nancing activities  – 23,740 1,856
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  2,624 – 9,959
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period (7) 13,001 22,907
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  2,624 – 9,959

Currency translation effects  120 53

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period (7) 15,745 13,001
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

      Equity
      attributable 
 Share Share Treasury Retained  Translation to Cicor Minority Total 
in CHF 1000 capital  premium shares earnings  reserve shareholders Interest equity

Balance at 1 January 2007 21,242 98,979 – 4,389 12,779 328 128,939 – 128,939
Recognized income and expenses – – – 9,992 – 9,992 158 10,150

Capital increases 2007 1,340 12,096 – – – 13,436 – 13,436

Costs related to capital increases – – 457 – – – – 457 – – 457

Treasury shares – 322 1,113 – – 1,435 – 1,435

Minority interest – – – – – – 475 475

Balance at 31 December 2007 22,582 110,940 – 3,276 22,771 328 153,345 633 153,978
Total recognized income and expenses – – – – 23,853 – 1,511 – 25,364 470 – 24,894

Share based payments – – – 195 – 195 – 195

Minority interest1) – – – – – – 603 603

Dividend to minority – – – – – – – 159 – 159

Balance at 31 December 2008 22,582 110,940 – 3,276 – 887 – 1,183 128,176 1,547 129,723
1) see note 23 

 See also note 12.           

Under Swiss law, dividends are paid out only after approval by the Shareholders’ Meeting.     

Consolidated Statement of 
Recognized Income and Expenses 

  in CHF 1000 Notes 2008 restated 2007

Net profi t/(loss)   – 21,572 11,369
Income and expenses recognized directly in equity:  

Actuarial gains/(losses) on employees’ defi ned-benefi t plans  – 1,720 – 1,191

Tax effect on actuarial gains/(losses) on employees’ defi ned-benefi t plans (19) – 27 – 39

Translation adjustment  – 1,575 11

Income and expenses recognized directly in equity  – 3,322 – 1,219
Total recognized income and expenses  – 24,894 10,150
of which Cicor shareholders  – 25,364 9,992

of which minority interests  470 158
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Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements

Principles of Consolidation 
and Valuation

1. Corporate information

Cicor Technologies, Boudry, is a public company, the shares of 

which are traded on the Swiss stock exchange.

The Cicor Technologies Group is active in the manufacturing of 

printed circuit boards (PCB Division), the manufacturing of thin-

fi lm substrates and microsystems (ME Division) and in providing 

electronic manufacturing services to the electronics industry 

(EMS Division).

2. Basis of the consolidated fi nancial 
statements

2.1 Basis of preparation 

Statement of compliance
The consolidated fi nancial statements of Cicor Technologies 

Group are based on uniform accounting and valuation principles 

applicable to all subsidiaries of the Group. The consolidated fi nan-

cial statements have been prepared in accordance with Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the requirements 

of the Swiss Code of Obligations.

The consolidated fi nancial statements of Cicor Technologies 

Group for the year ended 31 December 2008 were authorized for 

issue on 27 March 2009.

Basis of measurement
The consolidated fi nancial statements have been prepared on an 

accrual basis under the historical cost convention except for the 

following:  

  derivative fi nancial instruments are measured at fair value

  fi nancial instruments at fair value through profi t or loss are 

measured at fair value

  available-for-sale fi nancial assets are measured at fair value

  liabilities for cash-settled share-based payment arrangements 

are measured at fair value. 

Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated fi nancial statements are presented in Swiss 

francs (CHF), which is the Company’s functional and presentation 

currency. 

2.2 Signifi cant accounting principles

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated fi nancial statements include all subsidiaries in 

which the Group, directly or indirectly, has more than 50% of the 

voting rights or over which it exercises control. 

According to the full consolidation method, the assets, liabilities, 

income and expenses of subsidiaries are fully incorporated from 

the date control is transferred to the Group. Minority interests in 

equity and profi t are shown separately. Intercompany balances, 

transactions and profi ts are eliminated on consolidation. A list of 

the signifi cant subsidiaries is disclosed in note 27. 

Purchase accounting method
Assets and liabilities are measured at fair value at the date of 

acquisition when the newly acquired subsidiary is included in the 

consolidated fi nancial statements for the fi rst time. The portion of 

the purchase price exceeding the fair value of the acquired net 

assets and additionally identifi ed and valued assets is capitalized 

as goodwill. 

Foreign currency conversion
Each entity in the group determines its own functional currency 

and items included in the fi nancial statements of each entity are 

measured using that functional currency. Transactions in foreign 

currencies are converted at the rate of exchange as of the trans-

action date. Gains and losses of foreign currency transactions and 

of converting year-end foreign currency balances are taken to 

income.

The fi nancial statements of subsidiaries that report in foreign cur-

rencies are translated into Swiss francs as follows:

 Balance sheet items: at year-end exchange rates;

 Income statement and cash fl ow statement items: at average 

exchange rates for the year.

The translation differences resulting from the conversion of fi nan-

cial statements denominated in foreign currencies are directly 

charged to equity. At the date of sale of a foreign subsidiary, the 

respective cumulative foreign currency translation differences are 

recognized in profi t or loss. 
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Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of the acquisition over 

the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifi able assets, 

liabilities and contingent liabilities of the acquiree. When the 

excess is negative (negative goodwill), it is recognised immediately 

in the Income Statement.  

Subsequently, Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated 

impairment losses. In respect of equity accounted investees, the 

carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of 

the investment. 

Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group, which have 

fi nite useful lives, are measured at cost less accumulated amorti-

sation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Impairment of assets
The value of fi xed assets and other non-current assets, including 

goodwill and other intangible assets, is assessed to ensure that 

the respective carrying value is not exceeding its recoverable 

amount. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the 

greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash fl ows are dis-

counted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 

refl ects current market assessments of the time value of money 

and the risks specifi c to the asset. For the purpose of impairment 

testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of 

assets that generates cash infl ows from continuing use that are 

largely independent of the cash infl ows of other assets or groups 

of assets (the “cash-generating unit”). The goodwill acquired in a 

business combination, for the purpose of impairment testing, is 

allocated to cash-generating units that are expected to benefi t 

from the synergies of the combination. An impairment loss is rec-

ognised if the carrying amount of an asset or a cash-generating 

unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses are recognized in the Income Statement. 

Impairment losses recognized in respect of cash-generating units 

are allocated fi rst to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill 

allocated to the units and then to reduce the carrying amounts of 

the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis. 

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS, goodwill and other 

intangible assets with an indefi nite life are subject to an annual or 

more frequent impairment test.

  
Foreign exchange rates
  2008 2007  

Closing:  EUR         1.49 1.66

              USD         1.06 1.13

               GBP         1.53 2.25

               RON         0.37 0.46

 SGD 0.74 –

Average: EUR         1.59 1.64

 USD 1.08 –

 RON 0.43 0.50

 SGD 0.77 –

Treasury shares
When share capital recognized as equity is repurchased, the 

amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly attribut-

able costs, recognized net of any tax effects as a deduction from 

equity. Repurchased shares are classifi ed as treasury shares and 

are presented as a deduction from total equity. When treasury 

shares are sold or reissued subsequently, the amount received is 

recognized as an increase in equity, and the resulting gain or loss 

on the transaction is transferred to or from retained earnings.  

Research and development costs
Research and development costs are charged to income, except 

that costs incurred on development projects are recognized as 

intangible assets to the extent that such costs are expected to 

have future benefi ts. Development costs initially recognized as an 

expense are not recognized as an asset in a subsequent period. 

Development costs that have been capitalized are amortized from 

the start of the commercial production of the product to which 

they relate on a straight-line basis over the expected period of 

future benefi ts but not exceeding 5 years.

Property, plant and equipment
Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the esti-

mated useful life of the assets as follows:

Land *

Buildings 25 – 50 years

Improvements max 10 years

Machinery 3 –10 years

Furniture and Equipment 5 –15 years

Equipment  3 –10 years

Vehicles 4 years

* Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefi nite life.

Property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when-

ever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carry-

ing amount of the asset may not be recoverable. Buildings held for 

sale are stated at the lower of its carrying amount or fair value less 

cost to sell. The fair value is subject to impairment testing at clos-

ing date.
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Leasing agreements
Fixed assets acquired under leasing contracts where both the 

risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred to the 

lessee, are classifi ed as fi nance leases. Such assets are recorded 

at the lower of the estimated net present value of future minimum 

lease payments and the estimated fair value of the asset at the 

inception of the lease. Assets under fi nance leases are fully amor-

tized over their shorter of the lease term and its useful life.  

Payments made under operating lease agreements are recog-

nized as operating expenses.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of purchase or manufacturing 

costs and net realizable value. Costs for raw material are meas-

ured according to the weighted average cost method. Cost of 

work-in-progress and fi nished goods include materials, related 

manufacturing labour and related overheads. Concerning work-in-

progress, estimated losses on fi rm contracts correspond to the 

negative difference between the net realizable value and the esti-

mated costs until fi nalization of work-in-progress.  

Derivative fi nancial instruments
Derivative fi nancial instruments are stated at fair value, and gains 

and losses are reported in the fi nancial result.

The fair value of forward currency contracts is the market value at 

the balance sheet date. The Group does not apply hedge account-

ing as defi ned in IAS 39.

Trade accounts receivable
Trade accounts receivable are initially recognized at fair value and 

subsequently measured at amortized costs less necessary allow-

ances for bad debts.

The Group establishes an allowance for impairment that repre-

sents its estimate of incurred losses in respect of trade receiva-

bles. The main components of this allowance are a specifi c loss 

component that relates to individually signifi cant exposures, and 

a collective loss component established for groups of similar 

assets in respect of losses that have been incurred but not yet 

identifi ed. The collective loss allowance is determined based on 

historical data of payment statistics for similar receivables.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at market value and include 

cash on hand, postal and bank accounts at sight and time depos-

its with original maturities of 90 days or less.

Bank borrowings, trade and other liabilities
Interest-bearing borrowings are initially recognized at fair value 

less any directly attributable transactions costs and are subse-

quently measured at amortized cost. 

 

Provisions
Provisions are recognized when:

  the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 

result of past events;

  it is likely that resources are needed to extinguish the obliga-

tion;

  the amount of the obligation can be estimated in a reliable 

way.

A provision is recognised for expected warranty claims on prod-

ucts sold during the last two years, based on past experience of 

the level of repairs and returns.

Government grants
Government grants are recognized as income over the periods 

matching the related costs, which they are intended to compen-

sate on a systematic basis. Government grants are only recog-

nized when there is reasonable assurance that the company will 

comply with the conditions attached to them and that the grants 

will be received.

Income taxes
Current income taxes are accrued based on taxable income of the 

current year and charged to income as incurred.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for all 

temporary differences using the liability method. Temporary dif-

ferences relate to differences between the tax and accounting 

bases of assets and liabilities. Deferred income taxes are meas-

ured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when 

the asset is realized or the liability is settled.

Some of the Cicor Technologies Group subsidiaries benefi t from a 

tax exemption on federal, cantonal and municipal income taxes 

until fi scal year 2010 and 2013.

Tax loss carry-forwards and other deferred income tax assets are 

capitalized only if it is probable that they can be used to be offset 

against future taxable profi ts.

Pension plans
There are various employee benefi t plans in existence within the 

Group, which are individually aligned with local conditions in the 

respective countries. They are fi nanced either by means of contri-

butions to legally independent pension/insurance funds, or by 

recognition as employee benefi t liabilities in the balance sheets of 

the respective subsidiary. 

For defi ned contribution plans the net periodic cost to be recog-

nized in the profi t and loss statement equals the contributions 

made by the employer.
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In the case of defi ned benefi t plans the net periodic cost is deter-

mined by an actuarial valuation by external experts, using the pro-

jected unit credit method. Obligations under defi ned benefi t plans 

are covered by plans with separate capital, in which the assets are 

managed separately from those of the Group by autonomous ben-

efi t funds.

Under- or overfundings of defi ned benefi t plans are recognized in 

the balance sheet as a liability or an asset. Any assets resulting 

from surpluses in defi ned benefi t plans are limited to the value of 

the maximum future savings from reduced contributions or repay-

ments; liabilities, on the other hand, are fully included.

In the fi nancial statements 2008 actuarial gains and losses are 

recognized in equity for the fi rst time. The change has been retro-

spectively applied as of 1 January 2007. Please refer to note 2.4 

“Changes in Accounting Policies”.         

Revenue recognition
Sales comprise goods sold to third parties after deduction of sales 

taxes and rebates. Revenues are recognized once risks and 

rewards are transferred.

Revenues from engineering and consulting services are recog-

nized in the accounting period in which the services are ren-

dered.

Segment information
A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged 

in providing products or services that are subject to risks and 

returns that are different from those of other business segments. 

Cicor Technologies is active in three business segments, which 

are the manufacturing of printed circuit boards (PCB Division), the 

manufacturing of thin-fi lm substrates and microsystems (ME Divi-

sion) and the providing of electronic manufacturing services (EMS 

Division).  

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing net profi t 

excluding minority interests by the weighted average number of 

shares outstanding during the reporting period. Diluted earnings 

per share include all potentially dilutive effects. 

Share based payments
An equity settled stock option plan was introduced in January 

2008.The grant date fair value of options granted to employees is 

recognized as an employee expense, with a corresponding 

increase in equity, over the period that the employees become 

unconditionally entitled to the options. The amount recognized as 

an expense is adjusted to refl ect the actual number of share 

options for which the related service and non-market vesting con-

ditions are met. 

2.3. Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The preparation of fi nancial statements in conformity with IFRS 

requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the 

reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of con-

tingent assets and liabilities at balance sheet date as well as the 

reported amounts of revenues and expenses. It also requires man-

agement to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the 

Group’s accounting policies. Although these estimates are based 

on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions 

the Cicor Group may undertake in the future, actual results ulti-

mately may differ from those estimates. The areas involving a 

higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assump-

tions and estimates are signifi cant to the consolidated fi nancial 

statements are discussed where applicable. They concern intan-

gible assets including goodwill and pensions.

Goodwill
On 31 December 2008 the carrying value of goodwill from acqui-

sitions totaled TCHF 70,149. The recoverability of goodwill is 

tested for impairment annually during the fourth quarter or earlier 

if an indication of impairment exists. The value of goodwill is pri-

marily dependant upon projected cash fl ows, discount rates 

(WACC) and long-term growth rates. The signifi cant assumptions 

are disclosed in note 24. Changes to the assumptions may result 

in an impairment loss in subsequent years.

Pension obligations
The pension obligation is calculated on the basis of various fi nan-

cial and actuarial assumptions. The key assumptions for assessing 

this obligation are the discount rate, future salary and pension 

increases and the probability of the employee reaching retire-

ment. As of 31 December 2008 the under funding amounted to 

TCHF 1,933 which was recorded as an obligation in the consoli-

dated balance sheet. The obligation was calculated using a dis-

count rate of 3.8 %.
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2.4 Changes in Accounting Policies

Change in accounting policy regarding employees’ defi ned 
benefi t plans
Prior to 2008, Cicor Technologies recognized in its consolidated 

fi nancial statements actuarial gains and losses on its pension 

plans qualifying as defi ned benefi t plans fully in the profi t and loss 

statement. Since 2008, actuarial gains and losses are recognized 

in full within retained earnings (net of deferred taxes) during the 

period in which they occur, without affecting the consolidated 

income statement. The change has been retrospectively applied 

as of 1 January 2007. As a result of this change in accounting pol-

icy, equity as at 31 December 2008 was charged cumulatively 

with TCHF 1,747. The previous year’s fi gures affected by this 

change have been restated as follows:

  decrease in personnel expenses: TCHF 1,191

  decrease in deferred tax expenses: TCHF 39

The restatement had no effect on the consolidated equity as of 

1 January 2007.

 

IFRS standards and interpretations applied for 2008
IASB and IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpre-

tations which were applied during the preparation of the fi nancial 

statements:

Standard or Interpretation Effective date

IFRIC 11, IFRS 2 

Group and treasury share transactions 1 March 2007

IFRIC 12 

Service concession arrangements 1 January 2008

IFRIC 14, IAS 19 

The limit of defi ned benefi t assets, minimum 

funding requirements and their interaction 1 January 2008

New IFRS standards and interpretations not applied
The following new and revised standards and interpretations have 

been issued, but are not yet effective. They have not been applied 

early in these consolidated fi nancial statements. Their impact on 

the consolidated fi nancial statements of Cicor Technologies has 

not yet been systematically analysed. However, a preliminary 

assessment has been conducted by Group Management and the 

expected impact of each standard and interpretation is presented 

in the table below.

Standard or Interpretation  Effective date

IFRIC 13 

Customer loyalty programmes * 1 July 2008

IFRIC 16 

Hedges of a net investment in 

a foreign operation * 1 October 2008

IAS 1 revised 

Presentation of fi nancial statements ** 1 January 2009

IAS 23 revised 

Borrowing costs * 1 January 2009

IFRS 2 amended 

Vesting conditions and cancellations * 1 January 2009

IFRS 8 

Operating segments ** 1 January 2009

IFRIC 15 

Agreement for the construction of 

real estate *** 1 January 2009

IFRS 3 revised 

Business combination * 1 July 2009

IAS 27 amended 

Consolidation and separate fi nancial 

statements * 1 July 2009

IFRIC 17 

Distributions of non-cash assets 

to owners * 1 July 2009 

IAS 39 amended 

Financial instruments: recognition 

and measurement * 1 July 2009

 * No impact or no signifi cant impact is expected on the consolidated fi nancial 

  statements.

 ** The impact on the consolidated fi nancial statements is expected to result in 

  additional disclosures or changes in presentation. 

 *** The impact on the consolidated fi nancial statements can not yet be determined  

  with suffi cient reliability.
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General remark to the notes of the consolidated fi nancial statements: 

Unless otherwise stated all amounts in CHF 1,000. 

  

3. Property, plant and equipment 
 Land  Furniture and Other  
in CHF 1000 and Buildings Machinery Equipment equipment 2008

Acquisition costs
Balance at 1 January 2008  43,655   66,624   8,892   3,119   122,290 

Business combinations  67   1,191   47   –         1,305 

Additions  869   6,779   583   291   8,522 

Disposals  – 19,369   – 31   – 118   – 3   – 19,521 

Reclassifi cation  11   – 16   5   –        – 

Translation adjustment  – 174   – 1,493   – 171   – 60   – 1,898 

Balance at 31 December 2008  25,059   73,054   9,238   3,347   110,698 
 

Accumulated depreciation      
Balance at 1 January 2008  – 13,187   – 41,683   – 6,164   – 1,966   – 63,000 

Depreciation  – 1,412   – 6,535   – 1,344   – 480   – 9,771 

Disposals   6,697   7   116   3   6,823 

Reclassifi cation  –        –        – 43   43   –    

Translation adjustment  31   575   124   24   754 

Balance at 31 December 2008 – 7,871   – 47,636   – 7,311   – 2,376   – 65,194 
 

Net book value      
1 January 2008 30,468   24,941   2,728   1,153   59,290 
31 December 2008  17,188   25,418   1,927   971   45,504 
 

Fire insurance value 31 December 2008      155,802 

Net book value of pledged assets      5,498 

Net book value of assets under fi nancial lease     6,970 

Addition of assets under fi nancial lease      2,798 
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 Land  Furniture and Other  
in CHF 1000 and Buildings Machinery Equipment equipment 2007

Acquisition costs     
Balance at 1 January 2007 27,004   44,337   6,865   1,199   79,405 

Business combinations 6,834   8,773   500   212   16,319 

Additions  520   5,948   317   390   7,175 

Disposals  –      – 702   – 5   – 2   – 709 

Reclassifi cation  9,290   8,273   1,222   1,325   20,110 

Translation adjustment  7   – 5   – 7   – 5   – 10 

Balance at 31 December 2007  43,655   66,624   8,892   3,119   122,290 
 

Accumulated depreciation      
Balance at 1 January 2007  – 5,061   – 27,784   – 3,148   – 526   – 36,519 

Depreciation  – 1,200   – 5,857   – 1,477   – 470   – 9,004 

Disposals   –      590   –      1   591 

Reclassifi cation  – 6,926   – 8,663   – 1,550   – 972   – 18,111 

Translation adjustment  –      31   11   1   43 

Balance at 31 December 2007  – 13,187   – 41,683   – 6,164   – 1,966   – 63,000 
      

Net book value      
1 January 2007  21,943   16,553   3,717   673   42,886 
31 December 2007  30,468   24,941   2,728   1,153   59,290 
      

Fire insurance value 31 December 2007     161,719 

Net book value of pledged assets      16,404 

Net book value of assets under fi nancial lease      6,189 

Addition of assets under fi nancial lease      2,185  

During 2008 two buildings were sold. One was a non-operative building in La Chaux-

de-Fonds while the second was a production facility in Boudry. This sale is based on 

a sale-and-lease-back-contract. The contract has been classifi ed as an operating 

lease. Both sales resulted in a net gain of CHF 1 Mio. 

Additions to property, plant and equipment comprise purchases (cash items) and 

additions of leased assets (non cash items). The total therefore differs from the 

amount in the cash fl ow statement.      
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4. Intangible assets

in CHF 1000 Goodwill Brand Technology Clients Other Total

Acquisition costs      
Balance at 1 January 2008  95,955  6,711  6,868   3,783  664  113,981

Business combinations  2,157  – –  –  –  2,157 

Additions – –  –    –  6  6 

Disposals – –  –   – –  –  

Translation adjustment  40  –    – 205   – 61   – 2   – 228  

Balance at 31 December 2008  98,152  6,711  6,663   3,722  668  115,916 
      

Accumulated depreciation       
Balance at 1 January 2008  –    –  – 258   – 190  – 51 – 499

Depreciation  –    – – 342 – 251 – 53  – 646 

Amortization  – 28,003  – –  –   –  – 28,003 

Disposals  – –  –   –  –  – 

Translation adjustment –     –    15 4 –  19 

Balance at 31 December 2008 – 28,003  – – 585 – 437 – 104  – 29,129  
      

Net book value      
1 January 2008  95,955   6,711   6,610   3,593   613   113,482 
31 December 2008  70,149    6,711   6,078   3,285   564    86,787  

The additional Goodwill capitalized in 2008 relates to the acquisition of the ESG Compa-

nies (see note 23).

Goodwill has been amortized by a total amount of CHF 28 million. Please refer to 

Note 24 for further information.    

in CHF 1000 Goodwill Brand Technology Clients Other Total

Acquisition costs      
Balance at 1 January 2007  80,635  6,711 – – 625 87,971

Business combinations  15,359  –  6,828   3,771  – 25,958

Additions  –    – – – 39 39

Disposals  –    – – – – –

Reclassifi cation  –    – – – – –

Translation adjustment  – 39  – 40 12 – 13

Balance at 31 December 2007  95,955  6,711  6,868   3,783   664  113,981
      

Accumulated depreciation       
Balance at 1 January 2007  –    –  –   –  – –

Depreciation  –    –  – 258   – 190  – 51 – 499

Disposals   –    – – – – –

Reclassifi cation  –    – – – – –

Translation adjustment  –    – – – – –

Balance at 31 December 2007  –    – – 258 – 190 – 51 – 499
      

Net book value      
1 January 2007  80,635   6,711   –    –     625   87,971 
31 December 2007  95,955   6,711   6,610   3,593   613   113,482 

The identifi ed intangible assets of the newly acquired ME Division will be amortized 

over 20 (technology) respectively 15 (clients) years.  
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5. Inventories

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Raw materials 30,494 32,257

Valuation allowance – 5,914 – 6,882

Net value of raw materials 24,580 25,375
Work-in-progress 11,611 12,811

Valuation allowance – 733 – 1,242

Net value of Work-in-progress 10,878 11,569
Finished goods 11,597 13,522

Valuation allowance – 6,767 – 6,440

Net value of fi nished goods 4,830 7,082
Total inventories 40,288 44,026

6. Trade accounts receivable and other accounts receivable  

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Trade accounts receivable 31,444 35,399

Allowance for bad debts  – 2,624 -2,802

Total trade accounts receivable 28,820 32,597

Trade accounts receivable by regions   

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Switzerland 11,658 11,177

Europe (without Switzerland) 14,517 18,571

America 1,275 1,703

other 1,370 1,146

Total trade accounts receivable 28,820 32,597

Ageing of trade accounts receivable  
   31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007
in CHF 1000 gross Impairment gross Impairment

Not yet due 18,982 60 21,844 –

Overdue 0–45 days 7,279 169 6,647 –

Overdue 46–90 days 1,523 15 1,168 10

Overdue 91–180 days 1,204 615 1,213 34

Overdue 181–360 days 865 174 1,997 670

Overdue more than 360 days 1,591 1,591 2,530 2,088

Total trade accounts receivable 31,444 2,624 35,399 2,802

Movement in the allowance for impairment for trade accounts receivable  

in CHF 1000   2008 2007

Individual impairment allowance   
Balance as of 1 January 2,235 2,169
Business combinations – 350

Allowance increase 514 445

Utilisation/consumption – 275 – 509

Reversal of allowance – 69 – 220

Translation adjustments – 71 –

Balance as of 31 December 2,334 2,235
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in CHF 1000   2008 2007

Collective impairment allowance account   
Balance as of 1 January 567 283
Business combinations – 17

Change in allowance – 277 267

Balance as of 31 December 290 567

   

Other accounts receivable

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Value added taxes 1,494 2,925

Withholding taxes 38 171

other 2,180 2,317

Total other accounts receivable 3,712 5,413

7. Cash and cash equivalents   

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Bank accounts 15,745 13,001

Total cash and cash equivalents 15,745 13,001

Cicor Technologies’ banking partners are fi rst-rate Swiss, German and Romanian banks.

Cash earns interests at fl oating rates.     

8. Provisions  

in CHF 1000 Restructuring Warranties Other Total

Balance at 1 January 2007 – 768 1,324 2,092
Provisions acquired with ME Division – – 1,793 1,793

Additional provisions – 649 789 1,438

Unused amounts reversed – – – 627 – 627

Amount used – – 400 – 978 – 1,378

Translation adjustments – – 5 8 3

Balance at 31 December 2007 – 1,012 2,309 3,321
thereof short-term provisions – 133 1,477 1,610

thereof long-term provisions – 879 832 1,711 

Balance at 1 January 2008 – 1,012 2,309 3,321
Provisions acquired with ESG companies – – 53 53

Additional provisions – 832 453 1,285

Unused amounts reversed – – 284 – 224 – 508

Amount used – – 380 – 72 – 452

Translation adjustments – – 46 – 116 – 162

Balance at 31 December 2008 – 1,134 2,403 3,537
thereof short-term provisions – 344 1,546 1,890

thereof long-term provisions – 790 857 1,647

Additional warranty provisions are recognized for warranty claims on products sold. Four 

warranty cases were closed using the amount provided for. The other provisions consist 

mainly of jubilee benefi ts (2008: TCHF 960; 2007: TCHF 840).   
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9. Taxes   

Major components of tax expense

in CHF 1000 2008 restated 2007

Current income taxes  1,516   1,685 

Income tax for prior years  – 112  – 26 

Deferred tax  – 924  – 750 

Total expense  480  909   

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007  
in CHF 1000 Assets Liabilities Liabilities

Deferred taxes on intangible assets –  3,046   3,103 

Deferred taxes on property, plant and equipment – 1,076   1,688 

Deferred taxes on liabilities – 181   20 

Deferred taxes on other assets – 751   660 

Total –   5,054   5,471 

Deferred taxes on loss carried forward  46  – – 

Total deferred tax assets and liabilities  46   5,054   5,471 
Balance at 1 January  –     5,471   2,417 
Reversal of temporary differences recognized in the income statement –  – 846   – 711 

Actuarial gains and (losses) from defi ned benefi t plans –  27   –  

Impact of subsidiaries acquired  –  402   3,765 

Capitalization of loss carried forward  46  – – 

Balance at 31 December  46   5,054   5,471   

Reconciliation of current income taxes and deferred taxes    
  restated
in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Profi t before tax  – 21,092  12,278
Weighted average income tax in %  6.1 % 5.9 %

Expected income tax expense   – 1,287  730

Effect from not recognized losses prior period  –   – 

Effect of losses not capitalized during current period  1,740   246

Effect of tax rate changes compared to prior period –  – 

Effect of permanent differences due to cost restituation  23  18

Difference compared to actual tax expense current period  13  – 2

Adjustments for current tax of prior periods   – 112  – 26

Other Adjustments  103  – 57

Effective income taxes 480 909
Effective income taxes in % of profi t/(loss) before tax – 2.3 % 7.4 %  

Tax loss carried forward    

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Tax loss carried forward expiring 2009 2,800 4,726

Tax loss carried forward expiring 2010 8,061 –

Tax loss carried forward expiring 2011 121 3,455

Tax loss carried forward expiring 2012 1,428 15,563

Tax loss carried forward expiring >2013 27,758 –
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Tax losses carried forward on prior year’s losses were not capitalised for the tax exemp-

tion in companies concerned and since the possibility of using them is uncertain. In one 

of the subsidiaries, which benefi ts not of a tax exemption the loss of the reporting period 

is capitalized. Some of the subsidiaries benefi t from a tax exemption on federal, cantonal 

and municipal income taxes until the fi scal year 2010 and 2013 respectively.  

The weighted average income tax rate has increased compared to the previous year due 

to the fact that one of the subsidiaries no longer profi ts from a full tax exemption. 

Deferred tax liabilities related to investments in subsidiaries of the Group are not recog-

nized because the Group controls whether the liability will be incurred and it is satisfi ed 

that it will not be incurred in the foreseeable future.    

10. Financial liabilities   

Long-term fi nancial liabilities

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Mortgages 5,140 9,340

Financial leases 2,991 3,505

Borrowings, long-term 7,713 22,785

Total long-term fi nancial liabilities 15,844 35,630

Short-term fi nancial liabilities

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Bank overdrafts  547 515

Bank borrowings, short-term 12,879 11,420

Short-term portion of long-term borrowings 10,834 11,063

Mortgages – 780

Financial leases 2,188 2,637

Total short-term fi nancial liabilities 26,448 26,415

Maturity of fi nancial liabilities

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Within 1 year 26,448 26,415

Within 2 to 5 years 15,687 35,239

Above 5 years 157 391

Total fi nancial debts 42,292 62,045

Repayments of fi nancial liabilities
        
        
       2014 
2008 interest rate 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 and after

CHF 12.75 million acquisition fi nancing 3.5 %  8,500   4,250  –    – – –

CHF 2.7 million refi nancing loan 3.2 %  1,800   900  –    – – –

CHF 3 million mortgage loan 3.9 % –  3,000  –    – – –

CHF 1.25 million mortgage loan 3.6 % –  1,250  –    – – –

CHF 0.89 million mortgage loan 4.4 % – 360   180   180   170  –

EUR 0.24 million loan  5.0 % –  286   71   -    – –

EUR 1.08 million loan  5.1 %  532   427  314  135  41 157 

SGD 1.54 million shareholder loan 1.4 % –  1,132  –    – – –

Short term utilization of revolving credit lines 3.0 %  13,427  –    – – – –

Leasing n.a.  2,189   1,652  1,046  293  – –

Total   26,448   13,257  1,611   608   211 157 
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       2013
2007 interest rate 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 and after

CHF 25.5 million acquisition fi nancing 3.9 %  8,500   8,500  8,500  –    – –

CHF 5.4 million refi nancing loan 3.6 %  1,800  1,800   1,800  – – –

CHF 4.8 million mortgage loan 3.5 %  600  600   3,600  – – –

CHF 3 million mortgage loan 3.9 % – –  3,000  – – –

CHF 1.25 million mortgage loan 3.6 % – 1,250  – – – –

CHF 1.07 million mortgage loan 4.4 %  180   180   180   180   180 170 

EUR 0.34 million loan (repayment in CHF) 5.0 %  157   157   157   85  – –

EUR 1.44 million loan (repayment in CHF) 5.8 %  606   592   474   349   150 221 

Short term utilization of revolving credit lines 5.2 %  11,935  – – – – –

Leasing n.a.  2,637  1,852  1,246   407  –

Total   26,415   14,931   18,957   1,021 330 391

On 2 April 2007 the Group contracted an amendment to the existing syndicated bank 

loan (from 2005), increasing the facility for acquisition fi nancing by CHF 7.5 million to a 

total overall line of (originally) CHF 78.5 million. As of 31 December 2008 the following 

amounts were outstanding under this syndicated loan: acquisition fi nancing CHF 12.75 

million (2007: CHF 25.5 million) and refi nancing CHF 2.7 million (2007: 5.4 million). 

These utilizations bore interest at fi xed rates and an amount of CHF 10.9 million under 

the revolving facility of CHF 21 million valid until 31 July 2010 at variable rates equal to 

the banks refi nancing costs plus a variable margin depending on certain fi nancial ratios. 

The syndicated loan agreement stipulates covenants such as debt leverage ratio, interest 

coverage ratio and equity ratio. In addition to the syndicated loans the Group has mort-

gage loans of a total of CHF 5.1 million (2007: CHF 5.3 million) at fi xed rates and revolv-

ing credit lines of CHF 5.1 million which are utilized at CHF 2.5 million and bear interest 

at variable rates. The mortgage deeds add up to a total of CHF 6.8 million and assets in 

the amount of CHF 4.6 million are pledged.      

The shares of the following companies at a nominal value of CHF 34.1 million (2007: CHF 

34.1 million) are in deposit with the lead bank pledged as collateral for the syndicated credit 

line: Photochemie AG, Cicorel SA, Electronicparc Holding AG, Reinhardt Microtech AG.           

                  

               

11. Other current liabilities and accruals     

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Value added taxes 286 121

Other current liabilities 1,841 993

Pension liability 1,933 1,262

Accrued interest 25 10

Accrued personnel expenses 2,036 2,182

Other accrued expenses 8,411 6,280

Other accounts payable 4,458 2,161 

Total other current liabilities and accurals 18,990 13,009

Other current liabilities and accrued expenses are non-interest-bearing fi nancial liabilities. 

Other accounts payable also contain payables for social security. 
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12. Issued capital 
     
Capital structure   

in CHF 1000 

Share capital at 1 January 2007 21,242
Capital increase 3 April 2007, 62,000 registered shares at CHF 10.– 620

Capital increase 30 May 2007, 72,000 registered shares at CHF 10.– 720

Share capital at 31 December 2007 22,582
Share capital at 31 December 2008 22,582
2,258,210 registered shares of CHF 10.– 

Ordinary share capital
The ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on 22 June 2005 authorized the Board of Direc-

tors to increase the share capital by a maximum of 600,000 shares at a nominal value of 

CHF 10.–. Based on this decision the Board of Directors increased the share capital by 

TCHF 620 on 3 April 2007 by issuing 62,000 shares. These newly created shares were 

used to compensate a contribution in kind related to the acquisition of Reinhardt Micro-

tech AG, Wangs. The issued shares were valued at CHF 102.90 quoted on 3 April 2007. 

The Board of Directors further decided to increase the share capital by TCHF 720 on 

30 May 2007 by issuing 72,000 shares based on the same decision by the Shareholders’ 

Meeting held on the 22 June 2005. These newly created shares were used to partly refi -

nance the cash payment of the acquisitions. They were placed in the market at a price of 

CHF 98.–.

      

Authorized capital      

At the Shareholders’ Meeting of 22 June 2005, the shareholders decided to authorize the 

Board of Directors to issue up to a maximum of 600,000 shares. Out of these 600,000 

shares the Board of Directors issued 134,000 shares (above). The remaining 466,000 

authorized shares were cancelled by the shareholders at their ordinary meeting held on 

21 June 2007. Subsequently the shareholders authorized the Board of Directors to issue 

up to a maximum of 600,000 fully paid in shares with a nominal value of CHF 10.– each 

until 21 June 2009.      

      

Conditional capital      

At the Shareholders’ Meeting of 21 June 2007 the shareholders decided to cancel the 

existing conditional share capital of 17,500 shares established on 17 April 1998. Subse-

quently the meeting decided to authorize the Board of Directors to increase the share 

capital by a maximum of 50,000 shares at a nominal value of CHF 10.– each pursuant to 

the exercise of stock option rights that are granted to members of the executive manage-

ment and members of the senior management under an employee stock option plan to 

be established by the Board of Directors. Such stock option plan has been established 

on 3 January 2008.        

  

13. Lease Commitments
      
Operating Leasing  

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

within 1 year 3,251 251

from over 1 year to under 5 years 7,635 334

due in 5 years or later 6,599 –

Total Operating Leasing 17,485 585 

On 30 November 2008 the group’s production facilities in Boudry were sold to a Swiss 

Insurance Company. Subsequently, a long term rental agreement was contracted with the 

same company for a period of 15 years. It accounts for the major part of increase in oper-

ating leasing committments. For fi nancial leasings, please refer to note 10.
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14. Segment Reporting

    Central Services 
2008 PCB Division ME Division EMS Division and Eliminiations Total
in CHF 1000 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2008

Income statement 
Sales 49,586 35,319 123,565 – 31 208,439

Operating Profi t/Loss before 

Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA) 7,333 7,084 8,617 – 2,203 20,831

Operating Profi t/Loss (EBIT) – 5,630 4,042 – 13,729 – 2,272 – 17,589

     

Balance sheet 31.12.2008 31.12.2008 31.12.2008 31.12.2008 31.12.2008

Intangible segment assets 19,321 24,694 42,612 160 86,787

Other than intangible segment assets 45,125 32,453 65,287 – 5,673 137,192

Total assets 64,446 57,147 107,899 – 5,513 223,979

Segment liabilities 37,581 15,907 49,501 – 8,733 94,256

     

Other segment information 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2008

Depreciation 4,098 3,041 3,208 70 10,417

Amortization (of Goodwill) 8,865 – 19,138 – 28,003

Capital expenditure  4,337 1,167 3,008 10 8,522

    Central Services 
2007 restated PCB Division ME Division EMS Division and Eliminiations Total
in CHF 1000 1.1.–31.12.2007 1.4.–31.12.2007 1.1.–31.12.2007 1.1.–31.12.2007 1.1.–31.12.2007

Income statement 
Revenues   55,187     22,819     125,118   – 9   203,115  

Operating Profi t/Loss before 

Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA) 12,224 5,690 7,706 – 1,270 24,350

Operating Profi t/Loss (EBIT)   7,835     3,516     4,831   – 1,335   14,847    

      

Balance sheet 31.12.2007 31.12.2007 31.12.2007 31.12.2007 31.12.2007

Intangible segment assets   28,186     25,516     59,564   216   113,482  

Other than intangible segment assets   61,993     34,252     63,295   – 3,694   155,891  

Total assets   90,179     59,768     122,859   – 3,478   269,373  

Segment liabilities   52,745     18,312     44,778   – 440   115,395  

     

Other segment information 1.1.–31.12.2007 1.4.–31.12.2007 1.1.–31.12.2007 1.1.–31.12.2007 1.1.–31.12.2007

Depreciation   4,389     2,174     2,875   65   9,503  

Capital expenditure    3,752     2,349     1,064   10   7,175  

The primary segment reporting format is determined to be business segments as the 

groups risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in the prod-

ucts and services produced. Secondary information is reported geographically. The 

operating businesses are organised and managed separately according to the nature of 

the products and services provided, with each segment representing a strategic busi-

ness unit that offers different products and serves different markets.  

The Printed Circuit Boards (PCB) Division is a supplier of Printed Circuit Boards to vari-

ous different industries. The Electronic Manufacturing Services (EMS) Division provides 

electronic manufacturing services to the electronics industry. The Microelectronics (ME) 

Division focuses on thin fi lm coating technologies and a wide range of microelectronic 

manufacturing capabilities.      

No relevant operational transactions have occurred between the three divisions as of 

the reporting period. For information about the amortization of Goodwill, please refer 

to Note 24.        

The sales of the two buildings in La Chaux-de-Fonds and in Boudry had a signifi cant infl u-

ence on the segment reporting of the PCB Division. The net gain of these transactions 

resulted in CHF 1 million, the segment net assets decreased by CHF 13 million.    
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Geographical segments

    Central Services 
2008    and Eliminiations Total
in CHF 1000 Switzerland Rest of Europe Other 1.1.–31.12.2008 1.1.–31.12.2008

Sales 167,898 29,270 11,302  – 31   208,439 

Segment assets 185,301 30,112 14,079 – 5,513   223,979  

Capital expenditure 6,361 1,663 488  10   8,522  

    

    Central Services 
2007    and Eliminiations Total
in CHF 1000 Switzerland Rest of Europe Other 1.1.–31.12.2007 1.1.–31.12.2007

Sales  179,444   23,680  –     – 9   203,115 

Segment assets  241,307   31,544  –     – 3,478   269,373 

Capital expenditure  5,077   2,088  –     10   7,175 

Through the acquisition of ESG Holding in Singapore with production facilities in Asia, 

geographical segmentation gained signifi cance and is implemented in the fi nancial 

reporting.  

15. Sales   

in CHF 1000 2008 % 2007 %

Sales by destination    
Switzerland 115,327  55.3  117,677  57.9 

Europe (without Switzerland) 78,519  37.7  73,892  36.4 

Other 14,593  7.0  11,546  5.7 

Total 208,439  100.0  203,115  100.0  
    

Sales by application    
Telecommunication industry 36,915  17.7  36,923  18.2 

Medical equipment 31,262  15.0  24,569  12.1 

Industrial 37,546  18.0  46,556  22.9 

Watch industry 14,505  7.0  13,555  6.7 

Test Systems 18,511  8.9  17,707  8.7 

Automotive and transport industry 23,782  11.4  26,580  13.1 

Research and development 13,352  6.4  17,046  8.4 

Other 32,566  15.6  20,179  9.9 

Total 208,439  100.0  203,115  100.0 

16. Employees   

 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Number of employees
Production 1,286 756

Marketing and sales 53 56

Administration 110 78

Total 1,449 890
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17. Financial income and expense   

in CHF 1000 2008 2007

Income   

Interest income 735 822

Foreign exchange gains 3,742 2,183

Total 4,477 3,005

Expense   

Interest expense 2,995 3,317

Foreign exchange loss 4,985 2,257

Total 7,980 5,574
       

18. Personnel costs   

in CHF 1000 2008 restated 2007

Wages and salaries 54,921 50,309

Social security costs 6,161 6,443

Expense for defi ned benefi t plans (see note 19) 2,542 1,633

Other personnel costs 1,959 2,329

Total 65,583 60,714
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19. Pension plans   

Defi ned benefi t plan 

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007 31. 12. 2006

Fair value of plan assets  61,679   59,835  54,492

Present value of defi ned benefi t obligation  – 60,866  – 59,183  – 53,998

Financial surplus/shortfall  813   652  494

Unrecognized actuarial loss  –     –    –

Total net book value  813   652  494
Adjustment (Paragraph 58)  – 2,746   – 1,914 – 747 

Total net book value after adjustment  – 1,933   – 1,262 – 253   
   

   

Periodic pension cost for defi ned benefi t plans 2008 2007

Current service cost  3,871  4,305 

Interest cost on benefi t obligation  2,037  1,914 

Expected return on plan assets  – 2,025   – 2,895 

Past service cost  327   –   

Employees contributions  – 1,775   – 1,691 

Curtailment, settlement (gain)/loss recognised  107   –   

Total periodic pension cost (see note 18)  2,542  1,633    
   

Changes in the present value of the defi ned benefi t obligation 2008 2007

Defi ned benefi t obligation at 1 January 59,183  53,998 

Business combinations/additional plans 4,155   5,802 

Service cost  3,871   4,305 

Interest cost  2,037   1,914 

Benefi ts paid  – 6,387   – 4,824 

Plan amendments, settlements  – 1,523   –   

Actuarial (gains)/losses on benefi t obligation  – 342   – 2,020 

Exchange rate adjustments  – 128   8 

Defi ned benefi t obligation at 31 December  60,866  59,183   
   

 

Changes in the fair value of plan assets 2008 2007  

Fair value of plan assets at 1 January  59,835   54,492 

Business combinations/additional plans   4,306   4,165 

Expected return of plan assets  2,024   2,895 

Employee’s contributions  1,775   1,691 

Employer’s contributions  3,440   3,452 

Benefi ts paid  – 6,387   – 4,824 

Plan amendments, settlements   – 1,957   –   

Actuarial gains/(losses) on plan assets  – 1,341   – 2,037 

Exchange rate adjustments  – 16   1 

Fair value of plan assets at 31 December   61,679   59,835  
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in CHF 1000 2008 2007

Recognition of actuarial gains and losses  

Change in unrecognized positions  832   1,167 

Actuarial (gains)/losses on benefi t obligation  – 470   – 2,012 

Actuarial gains/(losses) on plan assets  1,358   2,036 

Amounts recognized in OCI statement (w/o administration cost) 1,720  1,191 
Accumulated actuarial net (gain)/loss in OCI statement, beginning of period  1,791   1,767 

Accumulated actuarial net (gain)/loss in OCI statement, end of period  2,679   1,791    

Movements in the benefi t liabilities 2008 2007

Benefi t liabilities at 1 January  – 1,262   – 253 

Acquired liabilities  151   – 1,637 

Benefi t expense  – 2,542   – 1,633 

Other comprehensive income (OCI)  – 1,720   – 1,191 

Employer’s contributions  3,440   3,452 

Benefi t liabilities at 31 December  – 1,933   – 1,262    
   

  

Basics of actuarial calculations 2008 2007

weighted averages  

Discount rate 3.80 % 3.50 %

Expected return on assets 3.80 % 5.00 %

Salary increases 0.53 % 0.50 %

Increase in pensions 0.28 % 0.25 %

   

As the annual reports of the involved insurance companies are not yet public, the alloca-

tion of the plan assets on categories by 31 December 2008  is not shown. The experience 

adjustment on the benefi t obligation amounts to a gain of TCHF 342 (2007: TCHF 2,020), 

whereas the experience adjustment on the plan assets amounts to a loss of TCHF 1,341 

(2007: TCHF 2,037). Periodic employer’s contribution in 2009 is estimated to amount to 

CHF 3.7 million.

20. Profi t per share   

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profi t/(loss) attributable to 

shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the 

year.   

  2008 restated 2007

Net profi t/(loss) attributable 

to Cicor shareholders         in CHF 1000 – 22,090 11,222

Weighted average number 

of ordinary shares outstanding  2,217,160 2,168,209

Basic and diluted earnings per share in CHF – 9.96 5.18 

Diluted earnings per share are the same as basic earnings per share, as the exercice price 

of the share options exceeded the share price.     
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21. Contingent liabilities

The lease agreement of Auparc AG lasts till 2010. In 2003 and 2004 Auparc AG faced three 

times a water ingress, caused by a roof that is not watertight. Since the lessor did not react 

to this severe situation (water ingress in an electronic manufacturing company), Auparc AG 

gave notice as per 30 April 2005, based on Art. 259b lit. a of the Swiss Code of Obligation. 

This notice is subject to a legal case.

One of the companies was faced in the previous year with a claim in connection with a war-

ranty case. This case was solved during 2008 with a compromise settlement. 

22. Related parties disclosures

The consolidated fi nancial statements include the fi nancial statements of Cicor Technol-

ogies (Holding), Boudry, and the subsidiaries listed in note 27. The governing and super-

visory bodies of Cicor Technologies are the only other related parties. Prinicpal share-

holders are presented in the notes of the fi nancial statements of Cicor Technologies 

(Holding). For information regarding the compensation of such bodies and the manage-

ment key personnel of Cicor Technologies refer to the fi nancial statements of Cicor Tech-

nologies (Holding), Boudry.   

   

in CHF 1000 2008 2007

Compensation of key management personnel 
of the Group
Short term employee benefi ts  1,790   1,736 

Post-employment pension benefi ts  110   130 

Consulting –    –   

Other  39   70 

Total compensation of executive members of 
the board and executive management  1,939   1,936 
Share based payments  195  –   

Compensation of non-executive directors   
Non-executive directors received a total 

remuneration incl. consulting of  535  191   

23. Business combinations    

On 15 May 2008 Cicor Technologies acquired 60 % of ESG Holding Pte Ltd, Singapore, 

which controls 100 % of ESG International Pte Ltd, Singapore, 100 % of ESG Ecotool Pte Ltd, 

Singapore and 100 % of Brant Rock Enterprises Corporation, British Virgin Islands. 

ESG International Pte Ltd, Singapore controls 99 % and ESG Ecotool Pte Ltd, Singapore 

controls 1 % of PT ESG Panatec, Batam/Indonesia. Brant Rock Enterprises Corporation, 

BVI controls 80 % of ESG Anam (VN) Ltd, Anam/Vietnam. The newly acquired companies 

are integrated into the Electronics Manufacturing Services (EMS) division.  

Cicor Technologies has agreed to grant to the seller the put option for the sale of the 

remaining 40 % of ESG Holding shares at the price of SGD 758,400. This option can be 

exercised until 18 October 2010. The option period can be extended for another 12 months. 

Management has deciced to account for the agreement as an anticipated acquisition of 

the underlying minority interest based on the requirement of IAS 32.  
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The purchase price is allocated to the net assets of ESG Group:       
    
 Carrying value  Fair value  
in CHF 1000 prior to acquisition adjustments Fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 878 – 878

Other current assets 3,206 975 4,181

Property, plant and equipment 1,274 – 1,274

Intangible assets – – –

Non-current receivables 82 – 82

Liabilities 5,816 – 224 5,592

Deferred tax liabilities 227 175 402

Net assets of acquired minority interest 603 – 603

Identifi able net assets acquired – 1,206 1,024 – 182
Goodwill   2,157

Total acquisition price   1,975

In comparison to the preliminary fi gures in the Interim Report 2008 there have been 

minor amendments. The acquisition was fi nanced by cash. A reconciliation of the pur-

chase price is as follows:
  
 Carrying value 
in CHF 1000 prior to acquisition

Consideration in cash 868

Transaction cost 528

Consideration for 40 % under put option 579

Total acquisition cost 1,975
 

Total acquisition cost before consideration under put option 1,396
Purchase price paid in cash 1,396

Cash acquired – 878

Net cash used 518

The goodwill relates to expected synergies from acquisition and the labor force. The 

newly acquired companies were consolidated as from 1 May 2008. Their contribution 

to sales and operating result of the period amounted to CHF 11.3 million and CHF 0.7 

million respectively.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2008 Cicor Technologies’ sales would have 

been CHF 4.4 million higher and the operating result CHF 0.2 million higher.  

Through the reassessment after the purchase of the ESG companies no material intan-

gible assets were identifi ed such as marketing-related, customer-related or contract 

and technology based intangibles. Furthermore no contracts with favorable conditions 

were detected nor could material intangible assets be separated as the company will 

not be able to sell, transfer, license, rent or exchange such assets out of these acquired 

subsidiaries. 
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24. Impairment testing

The Group consists of three cash generating units which are the three operational divi-

sions. The goodwill is composed of       

  

in CHF 1000 2008 2007 

Printed Circuit Boards (PCB)  19,321    28,186 

Microelectronics (ME) 15,330   15,320 

Electronic Manufacturing Services (EMS)  35,498    52,449 

Goodwill as of 31 December  70,149   95,955  

The recoverable amount of these business units has been determined on the basis of a 

value in use calculation. The underlying present values of future cash fl ow of the business 

units are based on fi nancial budgets for a three year period and a terminal value based 

on the cash fl ow projections beyond the period covered by the most recent plans. The 

residual value does not include a long-term growth rate. The plans used are generated 

bottom-up, worked by senior management and approved by the Board of Directors. Due 

to the fast changing economical environment, the original midterm plan and the budget 

numbers were reduced to a new sales forecast which was established bottom-up in 

February 2009. 

As the economical outlook having deteriorated in the course of 2008, the equity risk used 

in the calculation of the WACC has been increased and the planning numbers have been 

reduced. The impairment test performed bases on the latest Midterm plan with the 

decreased sales, the overall decline in industry especially in the automotive, telecommu-

nication and semiconductor business. This examination indicated, that the recoverable 

amount of two divisions was below their carrying value. Consequently, the following 

impairments on Goodwill were recognized in 2008 (no impairments were recognized in 

2007):         

in CHF 1000 2008 2007 

Printed Circuit Boards (PCB)  8,865  –

Microelectronics (ME)  –    –

Electronic Manufacturing Services (EMS) 19,138  –

Impairment recognised  28,003  –

The pre-tax discount rate was derived using market data provided by a large Swiss 

fi nancial institution.    

 The following list shows key assumptions and key results of the impairment test (after 

the amortization of Goodwill described above):

 2008 2007 
 pre-tax  growth rate pre-tax growth rate 
 discount rate of forecast period discount rate of forecast period 

PCB 8.6 % 2.5 % 8.1 % 6.1 %

ME 9.8 % 2.5 % 8.4 % 13.9 %

EMS 7.9 % 2.5 % 8.0 % 9.8 %

 2008 2007 
in CHF million recoverable amount carrying value recoverable amount carrying value 

PCB 53.6 53.6 129.8 76.2

ME 64.8 51.6 108.3 48.1

EMS 81.3 81.3 121.5 96.0



61Consolidated Financial Statements     |     Annual Report 2008     |     Cicor Technologies

  

When estimating the recoverable amount related to the impairment test of the goodwill 

for the cash generating units, the company applied certain key assumptions (see above). 

In a formal sensitivity approach, if all other variables held constant, the recoverable 

amount would be equal to the carrying value for the ME Division if the discount rate were 

to increase by about 2.4 percentage points or the estimated growth rate applied to the 

forecasting period would decline to approximately – 6 %.

Further elements of intangible assets other than goodwill have indefi nite lifes and were 

tested for impairment. The relief of royalty method was applied to evaluate the brand and 

a royalty rate of 1 % of sales was applied. 

   

in CHF 1000 2008 2007

Brandname (carrying value) 6,711   6,711 

25. Financial Risk Management

The Group has exposure to the following risks from its use of fi nancial instruments:

 credit risk

 market risk

 liquidity risk  

This note presents information about the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks. 

Further quantitative disclosures are included throughout these consolidated statements. 

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 

Group’s risk managment framework. The following paragraphs give an overview as to the 

extent of the above mentioned risks.                                                                                              

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk of fi nancial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to fi nan-

cial instruments fails to meet its contractual obligation. The assets mainly exposing the 

Group to a credit risk are: cash, cash equivalents and trade accounts receivable. The 

Group minimizes credit risk arising on cash and cash equivalents by investing in funds of 

high credit rated banks. These investments generally have a maturity of less than three 

months. On the balance sheet date, there are no pending transactions with derivative 

fi nancial instruments.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables is infl uenced mainly by 

the individual characteristics of each customer. The demographics of the Group’s cus-

tomer base, including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers 

operate, has less of an infl uence on credit risk. The danger of risk concentration is gen-

erally minimized by the large number of customer credit balances, with one exception: 

The biggest single customer accounts for 12.8 % of the revenues in 2008 (21.3 % in 2007). 

It is one of the world’s largest public companies, rated AA- by Standard & Poor’s.
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The carrying value of fi nancial assets correspond to the credit risk and are presented in 

the table below: 

in CHF 1000 2008 2007

Cash and cash equivalents 15,745 13,001

Trade receivables 28,820 32,597

Other accounts receivable  2,180 2,317 

Other current assets 85  188 

Total 46,830  48,103

Every operational unit has a credit policy under which each new customer is analyzed 

individually for creditworthiness. Purchase limits are established for each customer 

which represent the maximum open amount possible. Customer lists are reviewed in a 

monthly meeting with Group management. On a quarterly basis the allowances made 

according to the Group’s rules laid down in the Financial Manual are closely moni-

tored.  

Market Risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, 

interest rates and equity prices will affect the Group’s income or the value of its hold-

ings of fi nancial instruments. The objective of risk management is to manage and con-

trol market risk exposures within acceptable limits.

Currency Risk
The Cicor Technologies Group is exposed to currency risk on sales and purchases that 

are denominated in a currency other than the respective functional currencies of Group 

entities. The currencies in which these transactions primarily are denominated are 

Swiss Francs (CHF), Euro (EUR) Singapore Dollars (SGD) and U.S. Dollars (USD). These 

risks are mostly offset by cash fl ows from fi nancial assets or liabilities resulting from 

opposite operational transactions (natural hedge). Consequently, these risks are at 

present not hedged by currency forwards or derivative instruments. Currency trans-

lation effects arising from year-end valuations are also not hedged. The following table 

shows the currency risk of fi nancial instruments of which the currency differs from the 

functional currency of the respective group entities holding the fi nancial instruments 

as at 31 December.

2008
in CHF 1000 CHF EUR USD SGD other

Cash and cash equivalents 329 3,406 861 1 249

Trade receivables net 244 3,295 3,876 8 14

Other receivables – 44 – 10 –

Trade payables – 17 – 4,576 – 1,639 – 111 – 35

Short-term fi nancial liabilities – – – 5,242 – – 3

Other payables and accruals – – 207 – 515 – – 68

Total 556 1,962 – 2,659 – 92 157
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2007
in CHF 1000 CHF EUR USD other

Cash and cash equivalents 103 – 761 –

Trade receivables net – 22,283 1,746 435

Other receivables – 861 – 315

Trade payables – 14 – 10,223 – 3,211 – 89

Short-term fi nancial liabilities – – 826 – –

Other payables and accruals – – 132 – –

Total 89 11,962 – 704 661

A 5 % strengthening of a certain currency would have increased the currency gain or loss 

on the basis of the foreign currency-balances as of 31 December 2008 in the listed way. 

This analysis assumes that all other variables remain unchanged: 

2008
in CHF 1000 currency loss currency gain

5 % revaluation of EUR vs CHF – 481

5 % revaluation of EUR vs RON – 109

5 % revaluation of RON vs CHF – 16

5 % revaluation of USD vs CHF 79 –

5 % revaluation of USD vs RON 26 –

5 % revaluation of SGD vs CHF – 12

5 % revaluation of USD vs SGD – 61

2007
in CHF 1000 currency loss currency gain

5 % revaluation of EUR vs CHF – 461

5 % revaluation of EUR vs RON – 137

5 % revaluation of RON vs CHF 10 –

5 % revaluation of USD vs CHF 35 –

5 % revaluation of GBP vs CHF – 22

Interest Rate Risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that there is a change in market value or future cash fl ow of 

a fi nancial instrument if there is a change in interest rate.

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to the 

Group’s short-term debt obligations. The fi nancial debt was restructured in 2005 and the 

interest rates fi xed until 2010. The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a 

mix of fi xed and variable debt. At the reporting date the interest rate profi le of the Group’s 

interest bearing fi nancial instruments is presented in note 10.

Had the interest rates on average been 100 basis points lower on 31 December 2008, 

the pretax profi t would have been TCHF 130 higher on an annual basis mainly as result 

of lower interest expense on variable borrowings.

The Group does not account for any fi xed rate fi nancial assets or liabilities at fair value 

with consequent profi t or loss effects. The Group does not contract derivatives as inter-

est-hedging instruments. A change in interest rates for such fi nancial instruments at the 

reporting date does not materially affect profi t or loss or equity.
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2008 Total 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 and after
 carrying contractual contractual contractual contractual contractual contractual
in CHF 1000 amount cashfl ow cashfl ow cashfl ow cashfl ow cashfl ow cashfl ow

Financial liabilities 42,292 44,094 27,781 13,609 1,691 637 376

Trade payables 18,299 18,299 18,299 – – – –

Other payables and 

other current liabilities 14,245 14,245 14,245 – – – –

Total 74,836 76,638 60,325 13,609 1,691 637 376

2007  Total 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 and after
 carrying contractual contractual contractual contractual contractual contractual
in CHF 1000 amount cashfl ow cashfl ow cashfl ow cashfl ow cashfl ow cashfl ow

Financial liabilities 62,045 66,332 28,819 16,202 19,480 1,087 744

Trade payables 22,580 22,580 22,580 – – – –

Other payables and 

other current liabilities 10,727 10,727 10,727 – – – –

Total 95,352 99,639 62,126 16,202 19,480 1,087 744

The net carrying amount of fi nancial assets and liabilities is a reasonable approximation 

of the fair value. No signifi cant deviations between the net carrying amount and the fair 

value were noted. 

Capital Management
Managed capital is defi ned as equity including minority holdings. The Group seeks to 

maintain a strong equity basis that enables it to guarantee the continued existence of the 

Group, to offer investors reasonable income relative to the risks entered into and to 

ensure that funds are available for investments that will both benefi t customers in the 

future and generate further income for investors. The managed capital is monitored 

through the equity ratio which is the ratio of group equity to total assets. 

26. Risk Management

Risk Management is a fundamental element of Cicors business practice on all levels and 

encompasses different types of risks. It has been integrated into the controlling 

and reporting process according to the regulation in the Swiss Code of Obligation Art. 

663b/12. Material risks are identifi ed and quantifi ed in workshops and discussed with 

the Executive Management and the Board of Directors. The Risk Management process 

will be repeated regularly, at least once a year.

Liquidity Risk
The liquidity risk is the risk that Cicor Technologies cannot meet its fi nancial obligations 

when they are due.

A syndicated loan of CHF 78.5 million (original amount) is available to secure short- to 

long-term fi nancing requirements (see note 10). Compliance with the fi nancial covenants 

defi ned in the syndicated loan is a central element of the group’s fi nancial risk manage-

ment. The bank covenants were fulfi lled at any time. The short-term liquidity risk is 

reduced by the cash fl ow generated by operations, the trend of which is monitored con-

tinuously. The following table shows the contractual cash fl ows of fi nancial liabilities 

including interest payments all of which belong to the category fi nancial liabilities meas-

ured at amortized cost, as of 31 December:
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27. Subsidiaries  

    2008 2007
    Nominal Nominal 
in CHF 1000, unless otherwise stated Participation in % Currency share capital  share capital

Cicorel SA, Boudry/Switzerland* 
Engineering/Production/Sales/Distribution 100 CHF 8,000  8,000

Photochemie AG, Unterägeri Switzerland*  
Engineering/Production/Sales/Distribution 100 CHF 1,000  1,000 

Reinhardt Microtech AG, Wangs/Switzerland*  
Engineering/Production/Sales/Distribution 100 CHF 1,800  1,800 

Reinhardt Microtech GmbH, Ulm/Germany  
Engineering/Production/Sales/Distribution 74.9 EUR 500  500 

RHe Microsystems GmbH, Radeberg/Germany*  
Engineering/Production/Sales/Distribution 100 EUR 216  216

Electronicparc Holding AG, Bronschhofen/Switzerland*  
Holding/Finance 100 CHF 23,271  23,271

Auparc AG, Jona/Switzerland  
Engineering 100 CHF 500  500

Systel SA, Quartino/Switzerland  
Engineering/Production/Sales/Distribution 100 CHF 750  750

Swisstronics Contract Manufacturing AG, Bronschhofen/Switzerland  
Engineering/Production/Sales/Distribution 100 CHF 3,000  3,000

Systronics SRL, Arad/Rumania  
Production 100 RON 5,145  5,145

Systel Italia SRL, Milano/Italy  
Sales/Distribution 100 EUR 10  10

ESG Holding Pte Ltd, Singapore*    
Holding/Finance 60 SGD 1,896 –

ESG International Pte Ltd, Singapore  
Sales/Distribution 100 SGD 1,000 – 
ESG Ecotool Pte Ltd, Singapore    
Engineering/Production 100 SGD 1,000 –

PT ESG Panatec, Batam/Indonesia    
Production 100 USD 300 –

Brant Rock Enterprises Corporation, British Virgin Islands  
Holding/Finance 100 USD 10 –

ESG Anam (VN) Ltd, Anam/Vietnam   
Production 80 USD 1,500 –

Cicor Management AG, Zürich/Switzerland*  
Management Services 100 CHF 250  250

* Directly held subsidiaries of Cicor Technologies    

28. Treasury shares  
 Number of shares in CHF 1000

Balance as per 1 January 2007  55,000   4,389  
Consideration for acquisition of RHe Microsystems GmbH 3 April 2007  – 13,950  – 1,113 

Balance as per 31 December 2007  41,050   3,276 
Balance as per 31 December 2008  41,050   3,276  
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29. Share based payments    
 
Conditional capital
At the shareholders meeting of 21 June 2007 the shareholders decided to authorize the 

Board of Directors to increase the share capital by a maximum of 50,000 shares at a 

nominal value of CHF 10.– each pursuant to the exercise of stock option rights that are 

granted to members of the executive management and members of the senior manage-

ment under an employee stock option plan to be established by the Board of Directors. 

Such stock option plan has been established on 3 January 2008.

Stock option plan
The stock option plan for members of the management established on 3 January 2008 

allotted them a total of 22,500 call options on Cicor Technologies shares. An option is the 

right to buy one share at CHF 78.– during the exercise period. The options are granted 

free of charge. One third of the options may be exercised as from 1 year after the grant 

date, i.e. after 3 January 2009; another third of the options may be exercised as from 

2 years after the grant date, i.e. after 3 January 2010; the last third of the options may be 

exercised as from 3 years after the grant date, i.e. after 3 January 2011. The exercise 

period ends seven years after the grant date, i.e. on 3 January 2015. 

Assessment
The price of the call options issued to Management in 2008 was calculated according to 

a trinomial model at CHF 10.24 to CHF 13.86 depending on the vesting period using the 

following parameters:

Share price on 3 January 2008 CHF 73.70

Exercise price CHF 78.–

Expected volatility 28 %

Life of the option 3 January 2015

Risk free interest rate 2.97 %

Type of the option American

The weighted average share price in 2008 was CHF 49.94. The total option expense in 

2008 amounts to TCHF 195.

Option holdings
The following table shows the option holdings of the members of the executive and 

senior management as of 31 December 2008:

Number Exercise Year Cannot be Must be 
of options price CHF of issue exercised before exercised by

22,500 78.00 2008 3 January 2009 3 January 2015

No options have been exercised by the reporting date.

These potential ordinary shares are not dilutive as on 31 December 2008 the share price 

was below the exercise price.
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30. Subsequent events      
    

The Shareholders’ Meeting of 21 June 2007 decided to authorize the Board of Directors 

to increase the share capital by a maximum of 50,000 shares at a nominal value of CHF 

10.– each pursuant to the exercise of stock option rights that are granted to members of 

the executive management and members of the senior management under an employee 

stock option plan to be established by the Board of Directors. Such stock option plan has 

been established on 3 January 2008. A further stock option plan has been established on 

3 January 2009.        
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Report of the Statutory Auditor on 
the Consolidated Financial Statements 
to the Shareholders’ Meeting 

As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying consoli-

dated fi nancial statements of Cicor Technologies, which comprise 

the balance sheet, income statement, cash fl ow statement, con-

solidated statement of the group’s recognized income and 

expenses, statement of changes in equity and notes on pages 34 

to 67 for the year ended 31 December 2008.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair 

presentation of the consolidated fi nancial statements in accord-

ance with IFRS and the requirements of Swiss law. This responsi-

bility includes designing, implementing and maintaining an inter-

nal control system relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 

of consolidated fi nancial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The board of direc-

tors is further responsible for selecting and applying appropriate 

accounting policies and making accounting estimates that are 

reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated 

fi nancial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 

in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards and 

International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that 

we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

whether the consolidated fi nancial statements are free from mate-

rial misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 

about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated fi nancial 

statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material mis-

statement of the consolidated fi nancial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 

considers the internal control system relevant to the entity’s prep-

aration and fair presentation of the consolidated fi nancial state-

ments in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opin-

ion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. An 

audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the account-

ing policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 

made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consol-

idated fi nancial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated fi nancial statements for the year 

ended 31 December 2008 give a true and fair view of the fi nancial 

position, the results of operations and the cash fl ows in accord-

ance with IFRS and comply with Swiss law.

Report on Other Legal Requirements
We confi rm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing 

according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and independence 

(article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circum-

stances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss 

Auditing Standard 890, we confi rm that an internal control system 

exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consoli-

dated fi nancial statements according to the instructions of the 

board of directors.

We recommend that the consolidated fi nancial statements sub-

mitted to you be approved.

Zurich, March 27, 2009

KPMG Ltd.

Hanspeter Stocker Christoph Gasser

Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert

Auditor in Charge
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Financial Statements 
of Cicor Technologies (Holding)

  

Balance sheet

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Assets  
Investments 124,039 150,288

Long term loans to group companies 8,203 18,500

Long term loan to group company subordinated 11,000 11,000

Other long term assets 174 225

Non-current assets 143,416 180,013
Other receivables  

– third party 44 155

– group companies 7,583 6,976

Short term loans to group companies 5,568 3,400

Accruals 328 561

Treasury shares 1,026 2,968

Cash and cash equivalents 11,318 9,567

Current assets 25,867 23,627
Total Assets 169,283 203,640

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity  
Ordinary share capital 22,582 22,582

General reserve 1,652 778

Share premium 106,136 106,136

Reserve on treasury shares 3,276 3,276

Retained earnings  

– gain/(loss) brought forward 16,609 10,536

– net profi t of the year – 22,148 6,947

Shareholders’ equity 128,107 150,255
Financial debts  

– third parties 9,099 27,972

Non-current liabilities 9,099 27,972
Financial liabilities  

– third parties 13,779 10,300

– group companies 17,724 14,708

Other payables 87 179

Accrued expenses 487 226

Current liabilities 32,077 25,413
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 169,283 203,640
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Income Statement

in CHF 1000 2008 2007

Income  
Financial income 9,856 8,700

Interest received from group companies 1,517 1,444

Interest received from third party 284 493

Profi t from sale of treasury shares – 322

Total income 11,657 10,959
  

Expenses  

Administrative expense 2,418 1,436

Amortization of investments 28,003 –

Financial expense 3,205 2,391

Tax 179 185

Total expenses 33,805 4,012
Profi t for the year – 22,148 6,947
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
of Cicor Technologies (Holding)

  

  

  

Contingent liabilities

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Guarantee in favour of the Canton of Neuchâtel 3,000 3,000

Guarantee in favour of Credit Suisse 2,000 2,000

Guarantee in favour of a Swiss Insurance company  10,515 –

For the syndicated credit contracted in 2005, the company grants guarantees in favour 

of a bank in the amount of TCHF 20,400 (2007: TCHF 20,400).

For a lease contract between Cicorel and a Swiss Insurance company, Cicor Technology 

grants a guarantee in favour of the said Insurance company in the amount of TCHF 10,515 

which represents the discounted value of future rental payments.

The company is part of a VAT group and is consequently an independent debtor towards 

the Swiss Federal Tax Administration for the other members’ VAT commitments.

Pledged assets
The shares of the following companies at a book value of TCHF 113,604 (2007: TCHF 

141,607) are in deposit with Credit Suisse and pledged as collateral for the syndicated 

credit line contracted in 2005 and increased in 2007: Photochemie AG, Cicorel SA, Elec-

tronicparc Holding AG and Reinhardt Microtech AG.

Investments

in CHF 1000, unless otherwise stated Participation in % Currency 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Cicorel SA, Boudry/Switzerland    
Sales/Engineering/Production 100 % CHF 8,000 8,000

Photochemie AG, Unterägeri/Switzerland    
Sales/Engineering/Production 100 % CHF 1,000 1,000

Reinhardt Microtech AG, Wangs/Switzerland    
Sales/Engineering/Production 100 % CHF 1,800 1,800

RHe Microsystems GmbH, Radeberg/Germany    
Sales/Engineering/Production 100 % EUR 216 216

Electronicparc Holding AG, Bronschhofen/Switzerland     
Holding/Finance 100 % CHF 23,271 23,271

ESG Holding Pte Ltd, Singapore     
Holding/Finance 60 % SGD 1,896 –

Cicor Management AG, Zurich/Switzerland     
Management Services 100 % CHF 250 250

   

Goodwill related to investments was reclassifi ed to investments. 

Capital structure

in CHF   31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Share capital at 31 December    

2,258,210 (2007: 2,258,210) 

registered shares of CHF 10.–   22,582,100 22,582,100
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Issued capital and changes in capital 
structure

The ordinary Shareholders’ Meeting held on 22 June 2005 author-

ized the Board of Directors to increase the share capital by a max-

imum of 600,000 shares at a nominal value of CHF 10.–. Based on 

this decision the Board of Directors increased the share capital by 

TCHF 620 on 3 April 2007 by issuing 62,000 shares. These newly 

created shares were used to compensate a contribution in kind 

related to the acquisition of Reinhardt Microtech AG, Wangs. The 

issued shares were valued at the closing price of CHF 102.90 

quoted on 3 April 2007. The Board of Directors further decided 

to increase the share capital by TCHF 720 on 30 May 2007 

by issuing 72,000 shares based on the same decision by the 

Shareholders’ Meeting held on the 22 June 2005. These newly 

created shares were used to partly refi nance the cash payment 

of the acquisitions. They were placed in the market at a price of 

CHF 98.–.  

Authorized capital 

At the Shareholders’ Meeting of 22 June 2005, the shareholders 

decided to authorize the Board of Directors to issue up to a maxi-

mum of 600,000 shares. Out of these 600,000 shares the Board 

of Directors issued 134,000 shares (above). The remaining 

466,000 authorized shares were cancelled by the shareholders at 

their ordinary meeting held on 21 June 2007. Subsequently the 

shareholders authorized the Board of Directors to issue up to a 

maximum of 600,000 fully paid in shares with a nominal value of 

CHF 10.– each until 21 June 2009.  

Conditional capital 

At the Shareholders’ Meeting of 21 June 2007 the shareholders 

decided to cancel the existing conditional share capital of 17,500 

shares established on 17 April 1998. Subsequently the meeting 

decided to authorize the Board of Directors to increase the share 

capital by a maximum of 50,000 shares at a nominal value of CHF 

10.– each pursuant to the exercise of stock option rights that are 

granted to members of the executive management and members 

of the senior management under an employee stock option plan 

to be established by the Board of Directors. Such stock option 

plan has been established on 3 January 2008.  

Treasury shares
 Shares

1 January 2007  55,000 

3 April 2007 consideration for acquisition 

of RHe Microsystems GmbH (at CHF 102.90)  – 13,950 

31 December 2007  41,050 

31 December 2008  41,050 
  

The acquisition of ESG was fi nanced by cash. Treasury shares were 

acquired at an average price of CHF 79.80 per share. As at 

31 December 2008, treasury shares are stated at CHF 25 per share. 

    

Principal shareholders 

At 31 December 2008 the following principal shareholders (more 

than 3 % of the share-capital or voting rights) were recorded in the 

share register:     
  

 31. 12. 2008    31. 12. 2007 
 Number of shares in %* Number of shares in %* 

Oppenheim Asset Management Services S.à.r.l, Luxembourg 140,078 6.32 166,000 7.49

Chase Nominees Ltd, London, GB n.a. n.a. 148,416 6.69

Caceis Fastnet (Suisse) SA, Nyon  128,887 5.81 128,887 5.81

Vontobel Fonds Services AG, Zürich, CH 121,500 5.48 121,500 5.48

Corisol Holding AG, Zug, CH 118,154 5.33 n.a. n.a.

Schroder Investment Management Limited, London, GB n.a. n.a. 117,844 5.32

Jean-Louis Fatio, Bellevue, CH 95,006 4.29 95,006 4.29

Messieurs Pictet & Cie., Geneva, CH 92,486 4.17 n.a. n.a.

Alpine Select AG, Zug, CH 90,000 4.06 90,000 4.06

Guarda Lai AG, Zug, CH 77,934 3.52 n.a. n.a.
     
* in % of the total outstanding shares      
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Compensation of Board of Directors and Management
 
    Social 
    security   Consul-
2008 Remu-  Pension contri- Company  tancy
in CHF 1000 neration Bonus fund  butions car Other fee Total 

Board of Directors        
Antoine Kohler 18 – – 2 – – 48 68

Jean-Louis Fatio 18 – – – – – – 18

Robert Demuth 18 60 – – – – 199 277

Hanspeter Reinhardt 229 98 32 23 – 2 – 384

Urs Wehinger 18 – – 2 – – 45 65

Total actual Board members 301 158 32 27 – 2 292 812
Total former Board members1) 31 – – 1 – – 76 108

Management        
André Müller 252 61 27 16 – – – 356

Other Management members 464 27 33 42 18 19 – 603

Total Management 716 88 60 58 18 19 – 959
Total former Management members1) 325 200 17 53 – – – 595

    Social 
    security   Consul-
2007 Remu-  Pension contri- Company  tancy
in CHF 1000 neration Bonus fund  butions car Other fee Total 

Board of Directors        
Jean-Louis Fatio 10 – – 1 – – – 11

Christian Welter 10 – – 1 – – 6 17

Urs Wehinger 10 – – 1 – – 10 21

Antoine Kohler 10 – – 1 – – 99 110

Robert Demuth2) 211 – 36 17 – – – 264

Hanspeter Reinhardt2) 198 45 35 19 – 23 – 320

Total actual Board members 449 45 71 40 – 23 115 743
Total former Board members 30 – – 2 – – – 32

Management        
Lucas Grolimund 217 100 17 17 – – – 351

Other Management members 659 129 36 37 15 19 – 895

Total Management 876 229 53 54 15 19 – 1, 246
Total former Management members 81  – 6 6 6 6 – 105

1) Some amounts are under dispute.
2) Robert Demuth and Hanspeter Reinhardt have been elected at the ordinary Shareholder’s Meeting 

 of 21 June 2007 as members of the Board of Directors.     

   

The remuneration of the Board of Directors and the Management also include the remu-

neration recorded at subsidiaries. 
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Number of shares and options on shares held by the Board of Directors 
and Management at 31 December    

 2008 2008 2007 2007
in CHF 1000 Number of shares Number of options Number of shares Number of options

Board of Directors
Antoine Kohler 1,205 – 105 –

Jean-Louis Fatio 95,006 – 95,006 –

Robert Demuth 4,099 – 4,099 –

Hanspeter Reinhardt 36,000 – 36,000 –

Urs Wehinger 4,099 – 13,173 –

Christian Welter –    – 3,623 –

Management 
André Bermann 100 2,500 100 –

André Müller – 2,500 – –

Franz Rutzer – 2,500 – –

Proposed appropriation of available earnings 

in CHF 1000 31. 12. 2008 31. 12. 2007

Profi t/loss carry forward 16,609 10,536

Net profi t/loss – 22,148 6,947

Transfer to legal reserves – – 874

Dividend – –

Profi t carry forward – 5,539 16,609



Report of the Statutory Auditor 
on the Financial Statements
to the Shareholders’ Meeting
 

As statutory auditor, we have audited the accompanying fi nancial 

statements of Cicor Technologies, which comprise the balance 

sheet, income statement and notes on pages 70 to 75 for the year 

ended 31 December 2008.

Board of Directors’ Responsibility
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the 

fi nancial statements in accordance with the requirements of Swiss 

law and the company’s articles of incorporation. This responsibil-

ity includes designing, implementing and maintaining an internal 

control system relevant to the preparation of fi nancial statements 

that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 

error. The board of directors is further responsible for selecting 

and applying appropriate accounting policies and making account-

ing estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial state-

ments based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 

with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Those standards 

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 

assurance whether the fi nancial statements are free from material 

misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 

about the amounts and disclosures in the fi nancial statements. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, 

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 

the fi nancial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 

those risk assessments, the auditor considers the internal control 

system relevant to the entity’s preparation of the fi nancial state-

ments in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opin-

ion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control system. 

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the 

accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 

the fi nancial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is suffi cient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the fi nancial statements for the year ended 

31 December 2008 comply with Swiss law and the company’s 

articles of incorporation.

Report on Other Legal Requirements
We confi rm that we meet the legal requirements on licensing 

according to the Auditor Oversight Act (AOA) and independence 

(article 728 CO and article 11 AOA) and that there are no circum-

stances incompatible with our independence.

In accordance with article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO and Swiss 

Auditing Standard 890, we confi rm that an internal control system 

exists, which has been designed for the preparation of fi nancial 

statements according to the instructions of the board of directors.

We further confi rm that the proposed appropriation of available 

earnings complies with Swiss law and the company’s articles of 

incorporation. We recommend that the fi nancial statements sub-

mitted to you be approved.

Zurich, March 27, 2009

KPMG Ltd.

Hanspeter Stocker Christoph Gasser

Licensed Audit Expert Licensed Audit Expert

Auditor in Charge
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ME Division

Reinhardt Microtech AG

Aeulistrasse 10

CH-7323 Wangs

Phone +41 81 720 04 56

Fax +41 81 720 04 50

www.reinhardt-microtech.ch

Reinhardt Microtech GmbH

Woerthstrasse 85

DE-89077 Ulm

Phone +49 731 392 56 46

Fax +49 731 392 73 55

www.reinhardt-microtech.de

 

RHe Microsystems GmbH

Heidestrasse 70

DE-01454 Radeberg

Phone +49 3528 41 99 0

Fax +49 3528 41 99 99

www.rhe.de

Addresses

Contact

Cicor Management AG 

Leutschenbachstrasse 95 

CH-8050 Zurich 

 

Phone +41 43 811 44 05 

Fax +41 43 811 44 09 

info@cicor.ch

Head Offi ce 

Cicor Technologies

Route de l’Europe 8

CH-2017 Boudry

www.cicor.ch

PCB Division

Photochemie AG 

Gewerbestrasse 1 

CH-6314 Unteraegeri 

Phone +41 41 754 45 45 

Fax +41 41 754 45 55 

www.photochemie.ch 

Cicorel SA 

Route de l’Europe 8 

CH-2017 Boudry 

Phone +41 32 843 05 00

Fax +41 32 843 05 99 

www.cicorel.ch

Cicorel SA 

Avenue de Préville 4 

CH-1510 Moudon 

Phone +41 21 905 92 92 

Fax +41 21 905 92 93 

www.cicorel.ch

ESG International Pte Ltd

45 Changi South Avenue 2

#04-01 Singapore 486133

Phone +65 6546 16 60

Fax +65 6546 65 76

www.esg-group.com.sg

ESG Ecotool Pte Ltd

45 Changi South Avenue 2

#04-00 Singapore 486133

Phone +65 6545 50 30

Fax +65 6545 00 32

www.esg-group.com.sg 

PT ESG Panatec

Batamindo Industrial Park, Lot 338

Jalan Beringin, Muka Kuning

Batam 29433, Indonesia

Phone +62 770 61 22 33

Fax +62 770 61 22 66

www.esg-group.com.sg 

ESG Anam (VN) Ltd

15 VSIP Street 4

Thuan An District

Binh Duong Province, Vietnam

Phone +84 650 75 66 23

Fax +84 650 75 66 24

www.esg-group.com.sg 

EMS Division

Swisstronics 

Contract Manufacturing AG 

Industriestrasse 8 

CH-9552 Bronschhofen 

Phone +41 71 912 77 99 

Fax  +41 71 912 77 98 

www.swisstronics.ch

Swisstronics 

Contract Manufacturing AG 

Eichwiesstrasse 20 

CH-8645 Rapperswil-Jona

Phone +41 55 220 17 17 

Fax +41 55 220 17 18 

www.swisstronics.ch

Systel SA 

Via Luserte Sud 7 

CH-6572 Quartino 

Phone +41 91 850 38 11 

Fax +41 91 850 39 88 

www.systel.ch

Systronics SRL 

Zone Parc Industrial F-N 

RO-2900 Arad 

Phone +40 257 285 944 

Fax +40 257 216 733 

www.systronics.ro 

 

Investor Relations

Tel. +41 43 811 44 05

investor@cicor.ch
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